
 

 

FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT 
BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES 

May 16, 2019 | 7 p.m. 
300 West Briarcliff Road | Bolingbrook | Board Room (2nd Floor) 

 
 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call of Trustees 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Approval of Agenda 
4. Minutes for Approval 

a. Board Meeting – April 18, 2019 
b. Executive Session – April 18, 2019 

5. Employee Recognition 
a. Marianne Thompson – 30 Years 

6. Comments from the Public 
7. Friends of the Library 
8. New Business – Action Items 

a. Acceptance of Election Results of the April 2, 2019 Consolidated Election 
b. Administration of Oath of Office for Margaret J. (Peggy) Danhof 
c. Administration of Oath of Office for Celeste M. Bermejo 
d. Administration of Oath of Office for Marcelo Valencia 
e. Nominations for and Election of President Pro Tempore 
f. Election of Board President 
g. Election of Board Officers 
h. Approval of Resolution 2019-2 – Resolution Approving Agreement With Contractor Re 

2nd Floor Meeting Room and Performance Payment Bond 
i. Approval to Seek Requests for Proposals for Banking Services 
j. Approval of Health Insurance for Fiscal Year 2019/2020 
k. Approval of Revised Library Conduct Policy 
l. Presentation of Draft Ordinance 2019-2 – An Ordinance Establishing Regulations for 

Electronic Attendance at the Fountaindale Public Library District Board Meetings 
m. Presentation of Draft Ordinance 2019-3 – An Ordinance Approving Amendments to the 

By-Laws of the Board of Trustees of the Fountaindale Public Library District 
9. Library Projects 
10. Correspondence 
11. Treasurer’s Report 
12. Bills for Approval 

a. Bills Paid Report – May, 2019 
b. Bills Payable Report – May, 2019 

13. Director’s Report – May, 2019 
14. Unfinished Business 
15. Reports 

a. Building  
b. Finance  
c. Strategic  
d. Personnel  

16. Announcements 
a. Reminder: June 2019 Board Meeting is on Monday, June 17, 2019 at 7 p.m.  

17. Adjournment 
 
 

For further information regarding this meeting agenda, please contact: 
Paul Mills, Executive Director | Fountaindale Public Library District 

(630) 685-4157 | pmills@fountaindale.org 



 

 

May 2019 Agenda Background 
Paul Mills 

 
8. New Business – Action Items 

 
a. Acceptance of Election Results of  the April 2, 2019 Consolidated Election 

 
The Election Results of Margaret J. “Peggy” Danhof and Celeste Bermejo 
being elected to the Fountaindale Public Library District Board of Trustees 
for two year terms and Kathryn J. Spindel and Marcelo Valencia for six 
year terms are accepted. 
 
Suggested Motion:  Motion to accept the Election Results of the April 2, 
2019 Consolidated Election. 
 
 

b. Administration of Oath of Office for Margaret J. “Peggy” Danhof 
 
The oath of office will be administered for Margaret J. “Peggy” Danhof. 
 
Suggested Motion:  No motion required. 
 
 

c. Administration of Oath of Office for Celeste Bermejo 
 
The oath of office will be administered for Celeste Bermejo. 
 
Suggested Motion:  No motion required. 
 
 

d. Administration of Oath of Office for Marcelo Valencia 
 
The oath of office will be administered for Marcelo Valencia. 
 
Suggested Motion:  No motion required. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

e. Nominations for and Election of President Pro Tempore 
 
Nominations for the position of President Pro Tempore will be accepted.   
 
Suggested Motion:  Motion to close the nominations for President Pro 
Tempore. 
 
A vote will be conducted to elect the President Pro Tempore. 
 
Suggested Motion:  Motion to call a vote for the election of the President 
Pro Tempore. 
 
 

f. Election of Board President 
 
The President Pro Tempore will accept nominations for the position of 
President and conduct an election for the position of President. 
 
Suggested Motion:  Motion to close the nominations for President. 
 
A vote will be conducted to elect the President. 
 
Suggested Motion:  Motion to call a vote for the election of the President. 
 
 

g. Election of Board Officers 
 
The newly elected President of the Board will conduct elections for the 
offices of Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer. 
  
Suggested Motion:  Motion to approve a slate of officers by acclamation. 

 
 

h. Approval of Resolution 2019-2 – Resolution Approving Agreement With 
Contractor Re 2nd Floor Meeting Room and Performance Payment Bond 
 
We received two bids for the 2nd Floor Meeting Room Project.  Walter 
Daniels Construction Company’s bid was $122,000 with a $1,742 
Performance and Payment Bond.  Exclusive Construction Services’ bid 
was $128,163 with a $1,152 Performance Payment Bond.  Our architects 
and our attorney reviewed the Walter Daniel’s bid.  It is our 
recommendation to go with the Walter Daniel’s Bid. 



 

 

 
Suggested Motion:  Motion to approve Resolution 2019-2 – Resolution 
Approving Agreement with Contractor Re 2nd Floor Meeting Room and the 
Performance Payment Bond. 

 
 

i. Approval to Seek Requests for Proposals for Banking Services 
 
Jennie Nguyen, our Finance Manager, and I are requesting approval to 
seek proposals for banking services.  We wish to ensure the District is 
getting the best services that are available. 
 
Suggested Motion:  Motion to approve to seek requests for proposals for 
banking services. 
 
 

j. Approval of Health Insurance for Fiscal Year 2019/2020 
 
Please see included memo for an in-depth review. 
 
Suggested Motion:  Motion to fund the allocation for insurance at 
$6,780.00 per eligible employee for those employees selecting health 
insurance and to fund an allocation of $500.00 for those employees who 
do not select health insurance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

k. Approval of Revised Library Conduct Policy 
 
This draft revision of our Library Conduct Policy features the following 
changes: 

• the provisions section has been updated with the advice of our 
attorney 

• the administration section was added to provide guidance for both 
patrons and staff regarding how the policy will be implemented 

• the appeals section has been amended to clarify that an appeal 
must be filed within 30 days of receiving notification. 

This draft policy has been reviewed by our attorney and his 
recommendations have been incorporated. 

Suggested Motion:  Motion to repeal the existing Library Conduct Policy 
and approve the revised Library Conduct Policy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

l. Presentation of Draft Ordinance 2019-2 – An Ordinance Establishing 
Regulations for Electronic Attendance at the Fountaindale Public Library 
District Board Meetings 

 
In order for a trustee to participate in a Board Meeting via means other 
than in person, the Board is required to establish regulations for such 
participation.  Our attorney has drafted this ordinance to be in compliance 
with Open Meeting Act rules. 
 
Key highlights include 
 
1. If a quorum of the members of the Board is physically present as 

required by Section 2.01 of the Open Meetings Act, 5 ICLS 
120/2.01, the Board may allow a physically absent Trustee to 
attend the meeting by other means if the Trustee is prevented from 
physically attending because of:  (a) personal illness or disability; 
(b) employment purposes or the business of the public body; or (c) 
a family or other emergency; provided, no Trustee may attend a 
Board meeting by other means more than five times in any 
calendar year. 

 
2. "Other means," as used in these regulations, shall mean by video 

or audio conference. 
 
3. If a Trustee wishes to attend a meeting by other means, the 

Trustee must notify the recording secretary of the Library District 
before the meeting unless advance notice is impractical. 

 
4. A Trustee may participate by other means at either an open 

meeting or a closed meeting of the Board. 
 
5. Written minutes of all Board meetings, whether open or closed, 

shall include whether the Trustee was physically present or present 
by means of audio or video conference. 

 
6. As the first item of business, the Trustees who are physically in 

attendance at a Library Board meeting shall determine, by majority 
vote, whether a Trustee who is not physically in attendance may 
participate in that meeting by other means.  After such a vote in 
favor of participation, the remote Trustee may vote on matters 
before the Board. 

 



 

 

Per Board By-Laws, proposed changes to the By-Laws must be presented 
at one meeting and adopted at the next succeeding meeting. 
 
Suggested Motion:  No Motion required at this time as this is a first 
reading of a proposed By-Laws change. 

 
m. Presentation of Draft Ordinance 2019-3 – An Ordinance Approving 

Amendments to the By-Laws of the Board of Trustees of the Fountaindale 
Public Library District 
 
Please see draft revised version of By-Laws with attorney’s suggested 
changes in blue. 

Per Board By-Laws, proposed changes to the By-Laws must be presented 
at one meeting and adopted at the next succeeding meeting. 
 
Suggested Motion:  No motion required at this time as this is a first 
reading of draft revisions to the By-Laws. 

 



 

Board Meeting: April 18, 2019  1  

                                       MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF 
 THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 
 THE FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT 
 WILL AND DUPAGE COUNTIES, ILLINOIS  
 HELD APRIL 18, 2019 
 BOLINGBROOK, ILLINOIS 
 
 
A meeting of the Board of Trustees of the Fountaindale Public Library District, Will and DuPage 
Counties, Illinois was held at the Bolingbrook Library, 300 West Briarcliff Road, Bolingbrook, 
IL 60440, Thursday, April 18, 2019 at 7 p.m. 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
The meeting was called to order at 7 p.m. by President Margaret (Peggy) Danhof. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
The roll was called by recorder, Juanita Lennon, and a quorum was established.   
 
PRESENT 
 
Present at roll call were Steven Prodehl, Robert Kalnicky, Kathryn Spindel, Ruth Newell, 
Marcelo Valencia, Celeste Bermejo and Margaret (Peggy) Danhof. 
 
ABSENT 
 
None.  
 
FOUNTAINDALE STAFF PRESENT 
 
The following staff was present: Paul Mills, Juanita Lennon, Nancy Korczak and Lea Pottle.  
 
PUBLIC PRESENT 
 
The following public was present: Jody Hargett, Michael Swendrowski and Jennie Mills.  
 
AGENDA APPROVAL 
 
Following the Pledge of Allegiance, Danhof asked for a motion to approve the agenda. A motion 
was made by Spindel, seconded by Kalnicky.  
 

AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
 



 

Board Meeting: April 18, 2019  2  

MINUTES OF THE BOARD MEETING – March 21, 2019 
 
The minutes of the board meeting held March 21, 2019 were presented. A motion to approve the 
minutes was made by Spindel, seconded by Newell. Minutes were approved as read.  
 

AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 

 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
None.  
 
FRIENDS OF THE LIBRARY 
 
Jody Hargett provided the Board with a financial report for the Friends Spring 2019 Book Sale. 
Hargett reported that this book sale was the most successful in history! This was also Art and 
Judy Bilski’s last book sale as they are moving. The Friends have found new co-chairs for the 
book sales. The Fall Book Sale will take place October 12-13, 2019. The Friend’s Annual Dinner 
& Meeting will take place on Wednesday, April 24 in Meeting Room A at 6 p.m. The Summer 
Adventure Kickoff, which the Friends are sponsoring will take place on Tuesday, June 4.  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Approval to Seek Bids for a New Bookmobile 
 
Michael Swendrowski, the library’s bookmobile consultant, gave a presentation on the proposed 
bid specifications. Swendrowski also discussed the current market for bookmobiles and 
estimated the cost of the proposed vehicle to be $325,000.  Paul Mills noted that providing power 
to the battery on the proposed vehicle is estimated at $20,000 and that an opening day collection 
for the proposed vehicle is estimated at $60,000. 
 
A motion to approve seeking bids for a new bookmobile was made by Kalnicky, seconded by 
Valencia.  
 

AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Board Meeting: April 18, 2019  3  

Approval of Revised BOS Quote for Tables and Chairs for 2nd Floor Meeting Room 
 
A motion to approve the revised BOS quote for tables and chairs for the 2nd Floor Meeting Room 
was made by Prodehl, seconded by Spindel. 
 

AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 

 
 
Approval of Section 6 - Benefits and Services of the Employee Handbook 
 
A motion to repeal the existing Section 6 - Benefits and Services section in the Employee 
Handbook and to approve the revised Section 6 - Benefits and Services for the Employee 
Handbook was made by Newell, seconded by Valencia.  
 

AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
 

Approval of Section 7 - Leaving of the Employee Handbook 
 
A motion to repeal the existing Section 7 - Leaving section of the Employee Handbook and to 
approve the revised Section 7 - Leaving for the Employee Handbook was made by Newell, 
seconded by Bermejo.  
 

AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 

 
Approval of Completely Revised Fountaindale Public Library District Employee Handbook 
 
A motion to approve the completely revised Fountaindale Public Library District Employee 
Handbook was made by Newell, seconded by Valencia.  
 

AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
 

LIBRARY PROJECTS 
 
Director Mills provided the Board with an update on the 2nd Floor Computer Lab conversion. 
The library held an optional walk through for the project and Mills anticipates bringing a 
recommendation for the Board to consider in May.  
 



 

Board Meeting: April 18, 2019  4  

CORRESPONDENCE 
 
The Bolingbrook Bugle published an article about the new Micro Pantry located outside of 
Fountaindale Library, which was designed and funded by father Scott Silmon and daughter 
Ashley Silmon-Rodriguez.  
 
The West Suburban Community Pantry sent a thank you note to the library for the recent 
donation of 30 Easter baskets by Fountaindale staff.  Juanita Lennon discussed the staff 
committee’s work in the creation of the baskets. 
 
 
TREASURER'S REPORT 
 
The Treasurer's Report for March, 2019 was presented by Treasurer Spindel and will be filed for 
audit. 
 
BILLS FOR APPROVAL   
 
Bills Paid Report – April, 2019 
 
Bills paid for the month of April in the amount of $62,989.79 was presented for approval. 
Motion to approve was made by Newell, seconded by Prodehl.  

 
AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
 

Bills Payable Report – April, 2019 
 
Bills payable for the month of April in the amount of $222,657.72 was presented for approval.  
Motion to approve was made by Spindel, seconded by Newell.  
     

AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 

 
DIRECTOR'S REPORT – April, 2019 
 
Mills discussed early voting issues that had been discussed with him and noted the information 
regarding early voting that the library’s attorney had prepared.  Danhof also discussed the issues 
that had been reported to her.  Mills stated that he plans to reach out to Will County to discuss 
the issues in May. 
 
 
 
  



 

Board Meeting: April 18, 2019  5  

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
Final Approval of Request to Travel for Trustees to 2019 American Library Association Annual 
Conference in Washington D.C. – June 20-25, 2019 
 
Trustee Newell discussed the special event at the National Museum of African American History 
and Culture that the Coretta Scott King committee is putting together.  Attendance at this event 
would require an additional night’s stay. 
 
A motion to approve a sixth night stay for Trustee Newell to the 2019 American Library 
Association Annual Conference in Washington D.C., June 20-25, 2019 was made by Spindel, 
seconded by Valencia.  
 

AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
 

REPORTS 
 
Building – None.  
 
Finance – None.  
 
Strategic Plan – None.  
 
Personnel – None. 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
The National Day of Prayer will take place on Thursday, May 2.  
 
On April 22, there will be a meeting regarding the 20th anniversary of Bolingbrook’s John Doe in 
Meeting Room B at 11 a.m. followed by a memorial service at Hillcrest Cemetery.  
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

A motion was made by Spindel, seconded by Valencia, to enter Executive Session at 8:04 p.m. 
for Personnel 5 ILCS 120/2 (c) (1) “The appointment, employment, compensation, discipline, 
performance, or dismissal of specific employees of the public body or legal counsel for the 
public body, including hearing testimony on a complaint lodged against an employee of the 
public body or against legal counsel for the public body to determine its validity.” 

 
AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 

 



 

Board Meeting: April 18, 2019  6  

A motion was made by Kalnicky, seconded by Bermejo, to return to Open Session at 8:38 p.m. 
 
OPEN SESSION 
 
APPROVAL OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION ADJUSTMENT 
 
A motion to approve a 0% increase and an additional 40 vacation hours for the Executive 
Director was made by Kalnicky, seconded by Valencia.  
 

AYES:  Prodehl, Kalnicky, Spindel, Newell, Valencia, Bermejo, Danhof 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
A consensus was taken and the Board adjourned at 8:46 p.m. 
 
 
 

Approved:                                                                
     Steven J. Prodehl, Secretary 

 
____________________________________ 
Margaret J. (Peggy) Danhof, President 
 
 
 















 

 

RESOLUTION 2019-2 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AGREEMENT WITH CONTRACTOR 

RE 2nd FLOOR MEETING ROOM 
 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Library Trustees believe and hereby declare that it is in the best interests 

of the Library District and its residents to enter into an Agreement (AIA A101 Standard Form of Agreement 

as modified by Owner between Owner and Contractor where the basis of payment is a Stipulated Sum) with 

Walter Daniels Construction Company, Inc., the lowest responsible bidder, for construction of a 2nd Floor 

Meeting Room, which Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and made a part hereof (the “Agreement”); 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES OF 

FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION ONE:  The Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 1 shall be and is hereby approved in 

an amount not to exceed $122,000, and the President and Secretary of the Board of Library Trustees are 

hereby authorized and directed to execute said agreement in substantially the form attached hereto. 

SECTION TWO:  All policies and resolutions of the Library District that conflict with the 

provisions of this resolution shall be and are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION THREE:  This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED THIS 16th day of May, 2019. 
 

AYES: 
 

NAYS: 
 

ABSENT: 
 
APPROVED THIS 16th day of May, 2019. 
 
 
 

___________________________________  
ATTEST:      Margaret J. (Peggy) Danhof 

President, Board of Trustees 
 
__________________________________ 
Steven J. Prodehl 
Secretary, Board of Trustees 

































































































































Fountaindale Public Library District 

300 W. Briarcliff Road, Bolingbrook, IL 60440 

Finance Department 

Banking Services  

2019 • RFP 

Due Date: Wednesday, June 26, 2019 by 2 p.m. 

Paul D. Mills 

Executive Director 

630.685.4157 

pmills@fountaindale.org 

 

Jennie Nguyen 

Finance Manager 

630.685.4194 

jnguyen@fountaindale.org 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

1 
 

Section I - General Information 
 

a. Introduction and Mandatory Requirements - The Fountaindale Public Library District (“the 

Library”) is requesting proposals to ensure the Library is receiving the highest quality banking services 

at a competitive price.  The Library’s expectation upon completion of the Request for Proposal (RFP) 

process is to enter into a five (5) year contract, with the option for the Library to renew annually for 

another five (5) one year periods.  This contract shall be canceled by either party for any reason upon 

sixty (60) days of written notification from one party to another. 

 

Fees specified in this proposal will remain fixed for the duration of the initial 5-year contract period.  

Banking service charge adjustments for each optional renewal period (years 6 – 10) may be proposed 

but may not exceed the lesser of 5% or the Consumer Price Index (CPI) as of December of the preceding 

year. 

 

Proposals should demonstrate the proposer bank’s cost effective and innovative approach to today’s 

banking needs as well as the rapidly changing demands of the future. 

 

In accordance with the Fountaindale Public Library District’s Investment Policy (Section IV 

Safekeeping and Custody), the Library will not maintain funds in any financial institution that is not a 

member of the FDIC system or NCUA system.  Furthermore, the Library will not maintain funds in a 

financial institution that is unwilling or incapable of posting the required collateral for funds in excess 

of the FDIC or NCUA insurable limits.  The Library will not select, as a depository, any financial 

institution in which the Library funds on deposit will exceed 75% of the institution’s capital stock and 

surplus. 

 

It is the policy of the Library to maintain investment and operating accounts locally whenever possible, 

though the depository bank will ultimately be selected on the basis of high quality products and services 

and maximizing earnings. 

 

b. Account Description - The Library was incorporated in 1970 and, according to the 2010 census had 

a population of 67,683.  More recent estimates are that the population has grown to approximately 

75,000.  The Library is a non-home rule municipality under Illinois law.  The Library is located 

approximately 25 miles southwest of Chicago in the Village of Bolingbrook and employs 

approximately 105 full-time and part-time staff members.  The Library’s fiscal year begins on July 1 

and ends on June 30. 

 

c. Public Records – The documents submitted in response to this request for proposals become a public 

record upon submission to the Library, subject to mandatory disclosure upon request by any person, 

unless the documents are exempt from public disclosure by a specific provision of the law.  If the 

Library receives a request for inspection or copying of any such documents, it will promptly notify 

the organization that submitted the documents to the Library (by e-mail or fax) and upon the written 

request of the organization, received by the Library within three (3) days of the original request for 

information, will postpone disclosure of the documents for a reasonable period of time as permitted 

by law to enable such person to seek a court order prohibiting or conditioning the release of the 

documents.  The Library assumes no contractual obligation to enforce any exemption. 

 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

2 
 

 

 

 

d. RFP Schedule 

 

June 6, 2019  Distribution of RFP 

June 26, 2019 2:00 PM RFP Sealed Responses Due to Library 

July 18, 2019  Initial Evaluation Complete 

July 24, 2019  Optional Interviews (at the option of the Library) 

August 15, 2019   Recommendation of award to Library Board 

September 3, 2019  Implementation Date of Contract 

 

e. Questions Regarding the RFP – Requests for clarification or additional information should be e-

mailed in advance to Finance Manager Jennie Nguyen at jnguyen@fountaindale.org.  The list of 

questions and corresponding response will be posted to the Library’s website. 

 

f. RFP Amendments – In the event of a material modification, all known and/or potential proposers 

will be notified of an amendment to this RFP.  If deemed necessary by the Library, proposers will be 

given an opportunity to modify their proposal in the specific areas that are affected by the modification. 

 

g. Proposal Submission - Each proposer must submit one (1) original and four (4) written copies of their 

proposal. In addition, an electronic copy of the proposal and any supporting documentation must be 

submitted digitally. The complete proposal package must be submitted in a sealed envelope, clearly 

identified as “PROPOSAL FOR BANKING SERVICES.” The proposals may be mailed or delivered 

to: 

 

Jennie Nguyen, Finance Manager 

Fountaindale Public Library District 

300 West Briarcliff Road 

Bolingbrook, IL 60440 

 

Proposals must be submitted by 2:00 PM on Wednesday, June 26, 2019. 

 

Proposers accept all risks of late delivery of mailed proposals regardless of fault. All proposals and 

accompanying documentation will become the property of the Library and will not be returned. 

 

i. Terms and Conditions –  

 

1. The Library reserves the right to change the RFP schedule or issue amendments to the RFP at any 

time.  The Library also reserves the right to cancel or reissue the RFP, to reject any or all proposals, 

to waive any irregularities or informalities in the selection process, and to accept or reject any item 

or combination of items.  The Library reserves the right to request clarification of information from 

any vendor or to request supplemental material deemed necessary to assist in the evaluation of the 

proposal.  The Library reserves the right to effect any agreement deemed by the Library to be in its 

best interest.  This RFP does not obligate the Library to accept or contract for any expressed or 

implied services. 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

3 
 

2. In the event that the proposer to whom the services are awarded does not execute a contract within 

thirty (30) calendar days after Library Board approval, the Library may give notice to such proposer 

of intent to award the contract to the next most qualified proposer or to call for new proposals and 

may proceed to act accordingly. 

3. The Library will not reimburse any vendors for any costs involved in the preparation and 

submission of responses to this RFP or in the preparation for and attendance at subsequent 

interviews. 

4. The information in this RFP indicates an estimate of the average number of transactions per month. 

This number is the Library’s best estimate of the average volume and the Library in no way 

guarantees these as minimum or maximum volumes. 

5. Proposers shall thoroughly examine and be familiar with these specifications.  The failure or 

omission of any proposer to receive or examine this document shall in no way relieve any proposer 

of obligations with respect to this proposal or the subsequent contract. 

6. The contract may be terminated by either party by giving written notice to the other party at least 

sixty (60) calendar days before the proposed termination date.  Under no circumstances will any 

damages be paid as a result of the termination of this contract 

7.   The Library also reserves the right to cancel its Banking Services Agreement without a sixty (60) 

day written notice if the bank is sold or merged with another bank.  However, an automatic 

continuation of all terms of the agreement in the event of a merger or acquisition may occur as long 

as the financial institution guarantees in writing that they will continue to meet all required terms 

of the agreement. 

8. The Library also reserves the right to terminate the “Banking Services Agreement” without a sixty 

(60) day written notice if the awarded bank fails to comply with any of the terms and conditions of 

this RFP. 

 

 

Section II - Scope of Services 

 
The Library seeks proposals from competing banks for the services identified in this section (Section II) of 

this RFP which include core banking services (those currently received by the Library) and non-core or 

additional services the Library would like to consider.  The preferred arrangement would award a contract 

for all services to one Bank; however, the Library may consider an unbundled arrangement whereby one or 

more banks provide services.  Cost proposals for additional services should be presented separately from 

the cost proposal for core banking services. 

 

The scope of services for core depository services are identified on pages 6-8 of this RFP. Additional 

services are identified on pages 8-9 of this RFP. The Library is not obligated to procure any of the services 

enumerated in Section II. 

 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

4 
 

a.   Term of Agreement - The banking services detailed in this section will be performed for the Library 

on a contractual basis. 

 

b.  Collateralization of Account Balances - It is the policy of the Library to require security for all cash 

maintained in any financial institution designated as a depository. The Library is authorized to exercise 

this authority pursuant to the Illinois Public Funds Investment Act (30 ILCS 235).  This statute states, 

in part, as follows:  "Whenever a public agency deposits any public funds in a financial institution, the 

public agency may enter into an agreement with the financial institution requiring any funds not insured 

by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the National Credit Union Administration or other 

approved share insurer to be collateralized by any of the following classes of securities..." 

 

All collateral pledged will be not less than 110% of the Library funds held by the institution in 

excess of the FDIC limits or NCUA limits.  Collateral shall be valued at fair market value of the net 

amount of public funds to be secured at each institution.  Pledged collateral will be held in safekeeping 

and evidenced by a safekeeping agreement.  The banking institution awarded the contract must have a 

completed and executed collateral agreement with the Library before the start date of the contract.  

 

Monthly reports detailing the adequacy of collateral must be supplied to the Library by the bank within 

five (5) business days of the close of each month via e-mail.  The banking institution agrees to provide 

increased collateral as needed. 

 

c. Account Structure - The Library maintains its financial records on a fund basis of accounting in 

conformance with generally accepted accounting principles.  In conjunction with this type of 

accounting, the Library currently utilizes commingled cash accounts which commingles monies into a 

single account with entitlement to the various portions of cash reflected in the Fund’s general ledger 

accounts.   

 

With the exception of a compensating balance account, all accounts will be set up as interest bearing 

checking accounts.  Interest will be credited monthly based upon the weighted average daily balance 

of these accounts.  The interest rate will be the rate proposed by the institution through this proposal on 

Exhibit B-2 and B-3. 

 

Data has been provided on the attached Cost Proposal Form (Appendix B) to indicate the average daily 

balance over the past 12 months, the average number of deposits per month, the average number of 

checks clearing the accounts per month and various other statistical information which would be helpful 

for your institution in computing the fee proposal for the Library’s accounts. 

 

Currently the Library has a general commingled checking account for the majority of its deposit and 

payment activity, Petty cash accounts for miscellaneous payments and a Payroll account for bi-weekly 

payroll periods.  Also, the Library has separate bank accounts established for various activities that are 

required to be separated by law or other specific reason, including General Fund (money market), 

Working Cash Fund (money market), Bond Fund (money markets), Special Reserve (money markets) 

and Building Project Fund (money market).   

 

 

 

 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

5 
 

d. Compensating Balances and Monthly Account Analysis 

 

The Library is asking each proposer to submit fee proposals both on a direct fee per item method with 

monthly payments for services rendered and a compensating balance payment method.  The Library 

would like the option to pay for services either way based on what is best for the Library at the time.  

 

If the direct fee per item method is chosen, all charges for banking services shall be reported on a 

monthly account analysis statement.   The monthly account analysis report shall be made available 

electronically to the Library within 10 business days of the last day of each month and shall contain a 

detailed itemization of charges of types and volume, similar to those provided in Appendix B which 

are those services currently on the sample account analysis statement from Bank of America, rather 

than being debited directly against Library deposits.  The Bank shall submit an invoice to the Library 

monthly and fees will be paid within thirty (30) days of receipt or in accordance with the Illinois Prompt 

Payment Act. 

 

If the compensating balance method is selected, all charges for banking services shall be reported on a 

monthly account analysis statement.  The monthly account analysis report shall be made available 

electronically to the Library within 10 business days of the last day of each month and shall contain a 

detailed itemization of charges of types and volume, similar to those provided in Appendix B which 

are those services currently on the sample monthly account analysis statement from Bank of America.  

Total charges will then be compared to total accumulated earning credits to determine the total net debit 

(due the bank) or credit (due the Library).  The net debit or credit in the account will continue to 

accumulate in the analysis account from month to month and a “true-up” will occur at June 30 of each 

year.  If a debit balance, the Library will pay the bank.  If a credit balance, the bank will pay the Library. 

The Library will monitor the compensating balance on a periodic basis and adjust its compensating 

balance up or down with the objective of arriving at a net balance due to/from the Library of zero.   

 

If no service fees would be charged in consideration for a specified amount of deposits being left on 

account for the term of the agreement, this should be stated on the Cost Proposal Form. 

 

Upon termination of this agreement, any remaining balance in the analysis account shall be paid to the 

bank (if a debit balance) or to the Library (if a credit balance). 

  

e. On-line Banking - The Library requires the successful proposer to provide “on-line”, internet-based 

banking services software accessible by web browser (e.g., Internet Explorer).  The Library wishes to 

use on-line banking for the following, at a minimum: 

1. Daily balance reporting (ledger, available and collected); 

2. Detailed debit and credit postings (cleared checks, deposits, chargebacks, wire transfers in and out, 

interest payments, etc.) with ability to download data into Microsoft Excel spreadsheet format; 

3. Initiation of internal account-to-account transfers; 

4. Initiation of regular recurring wire transfers; 

5. Initiation of ACH debit and credit transactions and creation of saved “instructions” or “templates” 

for recurring/repetitive ACH debit (collection) or credit (direct deposit) type transactions; 

6. Placement of stop payment orders; 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

6 
 

7. Ability to view a minimum of last twelve (12) months of statements. 

8.    The bank shall also provide the Library with internet access to digital images of checks and stubs                               

              processed since the last billing cycle.  These images should be archived for 7 years. 

 

f. Transfers Between Accounts - On a regular basis, the Library will make transfers between its various 

accounts.  Transfers will be done electronically, via the internet, by the Library, except in instances 

where manual transactions are required (e.g., when online services are not available).  Credit for any 

transfers must be given on the same day that the transfer is made.  

 

g. ACH – The bank must be both a “sending” and “receiving” bank on the Automated Clearing House 

system to accommodate a payroll direct deposit program and electronic payment collection programs 

for payments.  Presently, the Library’s payroll and corresponding ACH direct deposit file are 

transmitted to the bank’s processing center electronically.     

 

The Library also seeks ACH “block” and filtering capabilities for preventing unauthorized debits of 

Library bank accounts. 

 

h. Availability of Funds - Deposits will be made periodically during the business day (9:00 a.m. to 5:00 

p.m.) to a designated cashier or location mutually agreed upon by the Library and the awarded bank. 

The Library will be given credit as collected funds all items which are cleared by the bank on the same 

day on which the deposit is made.  Items deposited which clear at institutions located within the 

appropriate Federal Reserve Region will be considered collected funds within one business day.  All 

other items deposited will be given credit as collected funds within two business days.  The bank will 

also credit the Library’s accounts for incoming wire transfers on the day received regardless of the time 

of receipt during the day.  All proposing banks are required to attach a copy of their current “availability 

schedule” to the proposal. 

 

i. Wire Transfers – 

Incoming Wires. The Library intends to consider all wire transfers received by the bank prior to the 

end of the business day, as “available for investment” by the Library, regardless of the time of actual 

receipt by the bank.  Should a wire transfer not be received by the bank, as specified above, then the 

wire transfer will be traced from origin to destination to ascertain the party responsible for delaying the 

transfer.  If necessary, adjustments will be made as soon as possible for any lost interest.   

Outgoing Wires.  The awarded bank agrees to execute any wire transfer order within one (1) hour after 

notification by the Finance Department through the computer terminal, by telephone, or by fax, if 

necessary.  Wire transfers ordered and not received by the destination party by 5:00 p.m. will be traced 

by the bank from origin to destination to ascertain the party responsible for delaying the transfer.  If 

necessary, adjustments will be made for any lost interest, or charges resulting from a “fail” to 

consummate an investment transaction.  

The Library currently implements a call-back procedure for outgoing wire.  The financial institution 

will call a specified individual when a wire transfer is initiated.  Most importantly, the call back cannot 

go to any individual who had initiated the wire transfer. An unique authorization code will be assigned 

to each designated library representative(s). The financial institution will require an initial and 

secondary signed authorization to complete in-bank outgoing wire transfers. 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

7 
 

Other Considerations.  Bank agrees to provide copies of the wire transfer confirmation evidencing the 

amount, date, and time, as well as the wire transfer number for all outgoing wires on a daily basis to 

the Library Finance Department via a fax transmission. 

 

j. Bank Statement and Advice Frequency –   Monthly statements will also be available on-line for 

access, and mailed as soon as they are available, but no later than five (5) business days after the end 

of the month.  The bank will provide written documentation (debit/credit advises) included with the 

monthly account statements for all account adjustments made during the month. 

 

As stated above, a monthly account analysis statement will be made available and delivered to the 

Library within ten (10) business days after the end of the month. 

 

k. Returned Checks – Returned checks for deposit items to the account will not be returned by the 

depository financial institution.  Instead, the check will be presented for payment a second time.  If the 

check is returned a second time, the bank will notify the Library by debiting the designated account, 

returning the check to the Library, and providing written notification the same day as the debit is made 

to the account. 

 

l. Denial of Payment – The financial institution will contact the Finance Manager or designee before 

denial of payment drawn on any Library account due to lack of funds. 

 

m. Supplies – The banking institution shall provide for all accounts duplicate deposit slips, locking bank 

deposit bags/money bags, and endorsement stamps as needed at no cost to the Library. 

 

 

n. Deposit of Cash/Coins and Singles – The Library will make weekly deposits that include cash made 

up of bills and coins.  The bank agrees to count these singles/other bills and unsorted, unwrapped coins 

and include them in the deposits on the day received.  Currently, the cash deposits average about $1,000 

per week. 

 

o. Cashier’s Checks/Money Orders/Gift Cards – Occasionally the Library needs to acquire cashier’s 

checks, money orders, or Visa gift cards.  Please include the costs in your proposal for these items, if 

any.  

 

The Library will occasionally, but rarely, utilized a Cashier’s Check/Money Order as a method of 

payment/fund transfer.  The bank institution shall require an initial and secondary signed written 

authorization to issue the Cashier’s Check/Money Order.    

 

Additional Banking Services 
 

In addition to the current banking services received by the Library as described above, the Library would 

like to consider some enhanced banking services.  Costs, if any, associated with the proposed enhanced 

services should be segregated from the cost proposal for core services. 

 

p. Positive Pay – Currently the Library has not implemented positive pay.  However, the Library desires 

to evaluate the implementation of positive pay for all of its accounts at the start of this banking services 

contract. 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

8 
 

 

q. Electronic Document Storage and Import/Export Capability – The Library desires access to 

scanned images of cleared checks and other bank documents. Imaging methods that have an indexed 

format and that can be searched are preferred.  The Library would like to consider uploading cleared 

check information into its financial system to avoid the manual process. 

 

r. Credit Card Processing - The Library currently accepts online credit card payments utilizing the 

Illinois State Treasurer’s E-Pay system.  We currently accept Visa, MasterCard, and Discover and the 

convenience fee is charged to the payer.  We would like to evaluate the option of including this in the 

Banking Services RFP considering the online and over-the-counter transactions including the current 

cards accepted.  Please include the cost of new equipment in your proposal, if applicable. 

 

s. Procurement Cards (“P-Cards”) - The Library would also consider providing a corporate credit card 

for specified staff members to use for Library-related purchases.  The Library will not pay an annual or 

other fee for these credit cards and prefers banks that offer a rebate on purchased amounts beginning 

with the first dollar spent.  Proposers shall indicate the rebate formula offered.  The Library should be 

able to limit the amount of any single purchase, the amount of daily purchases, and the type of vendor 

a cardholder may purchase from.  The Library would also need to receive individual statements for 

each cardholder, as well as a consolidated statement for all charges for all cards, and would need the 

ability to view account activity on-line.  

 

t. Investments – The Library will periodically seek rates on investment of idle funds.  The investments 

purchased will be outside this depository contract.  However, the depository institution awarded this 

contract may quote on such investments, provided they comply with the Fountaindale Public Library 

District’s Investment Policy. 

 

 

Section III - RFP Response Instructions 

 

a. Proposal Format – All banks wishing to submit a proposal must submit the following documents: 

 

 Title Page including the proposal subject, bank name, contact person’s name, mailing 

address, e-mail address, phone number, fax number, and the date of the proposal 

 Background information of the Bank, including full name and principal address, local 

locations, basic information of the Bank as an institution, and summary of experience with 

local government clients 

 A description of the organization and location of the relationship team that will be assigned to 

the Library, including the experience of this relationship team 

 Scope of Services – Clearly describe the scope of required services, including the on-line 

services, and the additional banking services to be provided.  Include a discussion of your 

bank’s approach to be used for compliance with the RFP 

 Cost Proposal Form – Appendix B 

 Earnings Credit Rate and Balance Required to Support $1.00 of Services – Appendix B-4 

 Proposal Exception Form – Appendix C 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

9 
 

 Proposed Implementation Schedule – Describe the conversion plan you would coordinate to 

ensure a smooth transition from the current provider.  Discuss your ability to meet the 

Library’s proposed schedule as indicated in this RFP.   

 Contact Information for five (5) references (a minimum of three (3) must be governmental 

accounts) to which the proposer is currently providing banking services.  Include the 

following listing with your proposal. 

a. Contact Name 

b. Title 

c. Name of Customer 

d. Address 

e. Telephone Number 

f. Fax Number 

g. E-mail Address 

h. # of Years as Customer 

i. Services Utilized 

 

 Audited financial statements and FDIC Call Reports for the past two (2) years as required by 

Illinois State Statute (30 ILCS 235/6) for any bank that will receive public funds. 

 Disaster Recovery Procedures – how quickly will back-up facilities be activated? 

 Additional Data and Other Information. 

 Other banking services that may be of interest to the Library not previously mentioned. 

 

 

If a proposer cannot meet any of the specifications, expectations, or services in Section II, or takes 

exception to any of the terms or conditions presented, these exceptions should be distinctly noted 

in the appropriate sections.  If no exceptions are presented, the Library will assume full capabilities 

as described in Section II.  Should third party vendors be necessary to provide any of the requested 

services, the detailed involvement of those parties and delineation of responsibilities should be 

explained in the appropriate sections. 

Section IV - Proposal Evaluation 
 

Proposals will be evaluated by a committee of Library staff.  Evaluations will be based on criteria outlined 

herein which may be weighted by the Library in a manner it deems appropriate.  All proposals will be 

evaluated using the same criteria and weighting. The criteria used will be: 

 

A. Responsiveness to RFP - The Library will consider all the material submitted to determine whether the 

proposer’s offering is in compliance with the RFP.   

 

B. Ability to Perform Required Services - The Library will consider all the material submitted by each 

proposer, and other relevant material it may otherwise obtain, to determine whether the proposer is 

capable of, and has a history of, successfully completing contracts of this type.  The proposer shall 

furnish acceptable evidence of their ability to perform, regarding such categories as 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

10 
 

expertise/experience, equipment, facilities, and personnel qualified to perform requested duties.  Failure 

or refusal to provide such information upon request may cause the proposal to be rejected.   

 

C. References – The Library may contact references directly to inquire about the quality and type of 

services currently being provided to other customers.   

 

D. Fees - The Library will evaluate aggregate banking services cost, per identified activity, rate of interest 

paid on accounts, and overall cost effective approach to providing the services requested in this RFP.   

 

Optional Interviews and Site Visits - The Library may, at its sole option, conduct interviews and/or site 

visits as part of the final selection process. 

 

 The inclusion in any proposal and/or in the related proposed banking services agreement of any language 

which directly or indirectly limits and/or in any manner purports to limit the liability of the bank for any 

negligence, malfeasance, and/or failure by the bank to perform its obligations under its proposed banking 

services agreement may, in the sole discretion of the Library, be grounds for disqualification of such 

proposal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

11 
 

 

 

 

 

 

PLEASE SUBMIT THE FOLLOWING 

PAGES WITH YOUR PROPOSAL 
 

ONE (1) ORIGINAL 

AND 

FOUR (4) COPIES



 
Fountaindale Public Library District – Banking Services RFP   

12 
 

PROPOSAL FORM 

BANKING SERVICES 

 

Company Name: 
 
Contact Person: 

 

Address: 

 

City, State, Zip: 

 

TX: (     )   

  

FX: (     ) 

 

Signature: 

E-Mail Address Required: 

 

 

The proposer acknowledges receipt of the addenda as follows: 
Addendum No. _____  Addendum No.______    Addendum No. _______ 

 

This proposal is an offer which shall be considered accepted only after the Library Board authorizes the execution 

of the contract.  In the event that this proposal is accepted and an award of contract is made, the proposer does 

hereby agree to deliver to the Library the signed and executed Contract as specified in the General Instructions 

within ten (10) working days after the date of such acceptance and notification thereof. 

 

This proposal, when accepted and signed by an authorized signatory of the Library, shall become a contract 

binding upon the person, partnership, or corporation to supply or perform as specified, and upon the Library to 

accept the product or service. 
     

 



 

APPENDIX B 

FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT 

COST PROPOSAL FORM 

 

Section I:  Direct Fee per Item Monthly Statement Payment Method 

Bank Depository Services  

Estimated 
Annual 
Volume  

Charge 
Per 

Item  

Annual 
Service 
Charges 

           

Account Maintenance  1       

Check Paid  1944       

Image Capture  1944       

Items Deposited  163       

Returned Checks  0       

Stop Payments  3       

Bank Service Fee  5       

Safe Deposit Box   1       

Cashier Check/Money Orders  1       

Wire Transfers:          

     Incoming  4       

     Outgoing  29       

ACH Transactions:          

     Debits (ACH Withdrawals)  79       

     Credits (ACH Deposits)  466       

Intra Account Transfers  67       

       

Other Services Not Included Above (Please 
Itemized)  

Assumed 
Annual 
Volume  

Charge 
Per 

Item  

Annual 
Service 
Charges 

           

           

           

       

       

Total Proposed Cost:     

       

Average Monthly Amount (Total/12)     

       

Balance Required to Support $1.00 Services 
(Exhibit B-2 and Exhibit B-3)     

       

Required Monthly Compensating Balance     
 

 

 



 

APPENDIX B-2 – Continued 

 

 

BMO Harris Bank Average Monthly Operating Ledger Bank Balance: 

 

01/31/18  $201,369.27    

02/28/18  $267,002.10 

03/31/18  $279,746.65 

04/30/18  $295,324.67 

05/31/18  $290,404.75 

06/30/18  $299,258.30 

07/31/18  $318,022.51 

08/31/18  $338,494.79 

09/30/18  $159,102.56 

10/31/18  $359,202.52 

11/30/18  $366,319.43 

12/31/18  $409,722.02 

 

 

 

 

Interest Rate: 

 

Fixed     ________________% 

Variable: 

  

 Tied to T-Bill rate _____________(Basis Points) 

 (Indicate plus or minus for over/under) 

 

 Other Index ____________ (Specify) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________   _____________________________ 

Name of Institution     Signature and Title 

 

_____________________________    

Date      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

APPENDIX B-3 – Continued 

 

 

BMO Harris Bank Average Monthly Money Market (ALL) Ledger Bank Balance: 

 

01/31/18  $9,898,210.86    

02/28/18  $9,309,967.95 

03/31/18  $8,619,305.16 

04/30/18  $8,085,817.90 

05/31/18  $8,442,187.86 

06/30/18  $12,498,855.95 

07/31/18  $11,251,756.82 

08/31/18  $10,961,236.00 

09/30/18  $15,185,054.87 

10/31/18  $14,456,783.56 

11/30/18  $14,137,558.23 

12/31/18  $11,661,265.22 

 

 

 

 

Interest Rate: 

 

Fixed     ________________% 

Variable: 

  

 Tied to T-Bill rate _____________(Basis Points) 

 (Indicate plus or minus for over/under) 

 

 Other Index ____________ (Specify) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________   _____________________________ 

Name of Institution     Signature and Title 

 

_____________________________    

Date      

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

APPENDIX B-4 

 

 

FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT 

CALCULATION SUPPORTING 

EARNINGS CREDIT RATE AND BALANCE REQUIRED TO SUPPORT $1.00 OF SERVICES 

 

 

1. Please provide Earning Credit Rate (ECR): _________% 

 

This is the rate used to value average investable balance.  How is this rate assigned? 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Please provide the balance required to support one dollar ($1.00) of service charges: 

 

 

 

Exception (Also included in Exhibit C) 

 

365 ÷ 30 (days in November)       365 ÷ 30 (days in November)       

                ( ___ %)   = ______  ( ___ %)  

 = ______  

 

 

 

              Banks should use the ECR proposed to complete the analysis. 

 

  



 

APPENDIX C 

 

FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT 

Proposal Exception Form 

 

 

Name of Bank: ________________________________________________________________ 

 

The proposing bank wishes to note exceptions to the following items in the Request for Proposal: 

 

Page Number     Item    Estimated (Costs) 

 

 



 

 

May 16, 2019 
  
  
From:           Lea Pottle, Human Resources Manager 
  
To:                Board of Trustees 
  
Subj:             Employee Health Insurance Renewal for 2019/2020 
   
History 
  
·   2016/2017 – Total decrease for medical 3% and dental increase by 2.4% 
   Board approved annual allocation: $7,250 
.   2017/2018 – Total decrease for medical 9.92% and dental increase by 2% 
   Board approved annual allocation: $6,550 
.   2018/2019 – Total increase for medical 2.1% and dental increase by 5% 
   Board approved annual allocation: $6,700 
 
 Background 
  
·   Health insurance coverage is with Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Illinois. 
·   Current total number of eligible full-time employees is 56. 
·   An allocation of $500.00 is available for those employees who do not select health insurance 
    allowing the employee the opportunity to select dental, vision, life or AFLAC products.  
·   Employees also have an option of additional health plans for an additional cost. 
·   Family coverage is available at the employee’s expense. 
  
Discussion 
  
According to Management Association of Illinois 2018 Library Survey, the average percent of 
premium paid by a library for single coverage PPO from 85 area libraries participating is 82.2%. 
  
Medical Renewal 
  
BCBS of IL issued a renewal with a 0.1% overall decrease. Rob Duerr, our Account Executive 
with Mesirow Financial, worked with the underwriters in order to negotiate this favorable renewal 
for the District. 
 
Dental Renewal 
  
BCBS of IL issued a 2.5% increase to the District’s current dental plan; average market increase 
is between 5-9% for our size segment. This increase is classified as a favorable renewal. The 
District will continue to offer the same two dental plans for employees. 
  



 

 

Vision Renewal 
  
No change in rates for vision coverage with EyeMed.   
 
Life and Dependent Life Renewal 
  
No change in rates for Life and Dependent Life renewal with Dearborn National.  
 
Recommendation 
  
Due to the relatively flat renewal rate for medical premiums and a minimal increase in dental 
premiums, a recommendation is being made for the District to increase the funding from $6,700 
to $6,780 per employee.  
 
Funding will cover the following percentages for Single Medical, Dental, and Vision coverages: 
 
 Proposed 2019/2020 2018/2019 Employees covered 
PPO-Select, Option 1 99.42% 99.42% 5 
PPO-Select, Option 2 96.92% 96.93% 16 
HMO 95.38% 92.45% 15 
HDHP w/HSA 86.89% 90.33% 1 
PPO+ 78.29% 78.35% 8 

 
Currently 5 Staff members do not enroll in the District’s Group Medical coverages.  
 
*The premium for Life Insurance is not included as it is paid for by the library. The annual 
premium for Life Insurance is $6,048.00 for all benefit eligible employees.   
  
For those employees who do not elect medical coverage, it is recommended that the $500.00 
allocation continue with options to select Single Dental, Single Vision and Life Insurance.  This 
amount is sufficient to cover the cost for these policies. 
  
                          
Suggested Motion:  Motion to fund the allocation for insurance at $6,780.00 per eligible 
employee for those employees selecting health insurance and to fund an allocation of $500.00 
for those employees who do not select health insurance but wish to select dental, vision, and life 
insurance. 



 

 

FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT CONDUCT POLICY 
 

The Fountaindale Public Library District welcomes all individuals to use resources made 
available to the community. The Conduct Policy is designed to protect the rights of 
individuals who are in the library or use library materials or services, to protect the rights 
of staff members to conduct library business without interference, and to preserve and 
protect library materials and facilities.  
 
Use of the Library is governed by the policy established by the Library Board of 
Trustees and any applicable rules or regulations adopted by the Library. The Executive 
Director as the executor of the policy for the Board of Trustees may exercise discretion 
in determining what use is “in the best interest of the Library” and is authorized to act 
accordingly, including limiting the use of the library by individuals and/or organizations 
whose activities interfere with Library operations, adversely affect public safety, or 
cause public disturbances. The Board of Trustees may modify, amend or supplement 
this policy as it deems necessary and appropriate. 
 
SCOPE 
 
This policy applies to all visitors to any facility, including vehicles, of the Fountaindale 
Public Library and their surrounding properties. 
 
PROVISIONS 
 
In order to provide a secure and comfortable environment for all library patrons and 
staff, the Library reserves the right to respond to any and all conduct that disturbs library 
patrons or staff, or that hinders others from using the library or library materials. 
 
Examples of conduct and actions that are not permitted anywhere on library property 
include, but are not limited to: 
 
1.      Disorderly, disruptive or unruly conduct 
2. Improperly checking out library materials 
3.      Using electronic devices with or without headphones at a volume and/or at a 

location disturbing to others 
4.      Bringing food or uncovered beverages outside the cafe area 
5.      Occupying areas of the library that are age inappropriate 
6.      Sleeping, inappropriate use of library furniture, or blocking of aisles, exits or 

entrances. 



 

 

7.      Having offensive body odor or personal hygiene which disrupts other patrons’ 
ability to use the library. 

8. Bathing, shaving, or washing clothing in public restrooms or other areas 
9.      Not wearing shoes and clothing that does not provides adequate body coverage 

at all times. 
10.      Campaigning, petitioning, proselytizing, or soliciting for any cause inside the 

library and/or in the immediate area surrounding the entrance or exits of the 
building. Placing of material in the library or on vehicles in the library’s parking lot 
is prohibited. 

11.      Bringing pets or animals other than service animals necessary for disabilities and 
animals which are part of library-sponsored programming.  Please note that 
service animals as defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Illinois 
Service Animal Access Act and White Cane Law are allowed in accordance with 
federal and Illinois law. 

12.    Gambling.  
13.    Use of tobacco products in the library and/or within 25 feet of a library entrance 

or exit. This includes, but is not necessarily limited to, cigarettes, smokeless 
tobacco, herbal products and e-cigarettes. 

14.    Being under the influence or in possession of alcohol or any illegal substance 
15.    Public indecency. 
16.    Trespassing in non-public areas. 
17.    Remaining on library property after being asked to leave. 
18.    Damaging or defacing library materials or property. 
19.    Stealing or attempting to steal personal or library property. 
20.    Carrying or displaying simulated or real weapons on library property except for 

authorized law enforcement officials. 
21.    Threatening and/or violent behavior. Examples include but are not limited to:  

shoving; throwing things; fighting; verbally or physically harassing, bullying, or 
threatening other patrons or staff including stalking, or lurking. 

22.    Any violation of federal, state or local law or disregard of library regulations and 
policies. 

 
ADMINISTRATION 
 
Enforcement of the Conduct Policy will be conducted fairly and reasonably. Library 
privileges encompass access to property, services, and materials. 
 
1.  A person whose behavior violates this policy will be informed of the rules and 

asked to cease the behavior. Generally, except in cases of unlawful conduct or 
conduct which is immediately threatening to the safety of patrons or staff, a staff 



 

 

member will give a person whose behavior violates any of these rules one 
warning, and will advise him or her of the course of action to be taken by the 
Library should the behavior continue. A copy of this policy will be available on 
request. 

 
2. If the behavior continues, a staff member may require the person to leave the 

premises. Staff will notify the Police Department if an individual fails to heed staff 
requests. 

 
3.  Subsequent offenses, refusing to comply with staff instructions, unlawful conduct, 

or conduct which is immediately threatening to the safety of patrons or staff may 
result in the person having his or her library privileges limited or suspended for a 
period of up to one year or longer, depending on the severity of the offense.  
Persons whose privileges are limited or suspended in this manner will be 
required to meet with library staff before their privileges are reinstated.   

 
4.  A person whose behavior violates any of these rules may be asked to provide 

identification, including their library card. Refusing to provide identification or 
giving false information may result in being required to leave the premises or in 
having his or her library privileges limited or suspended. 

 
5.  Library materials must be properly checked out before removal from the 

premises. Patrons may be asked to provide proof of checkout.  
 
6.  A person responsible for damage to, or destruction or theft of Library property will 

have his or her library privileges suspended immediately. Privileges are not 
eligible to be reinstated until the person has compensated the Library for the full 
cost of damage, destruction or theft. 

 
APPEAL AND REVIEW 
 
A person who feels his or her library privileges have been wrongly limited or suspended 
may appeal the decision in writing to the Executive Director within 30 days of receiving 
notification. The decision of the Executive Director will be final. 
 
The Board of Trustees of the Fountaindale Library District will review the conduct policy 
and regulations periodically, and reserves the right to amend them at any time. The 
Board authorizes the Executive Director to waive regulations under appropriate 
circumstances. The Executive Director is the chief person empowered to make 



 

 

decisions regarding the availability and use of the library. The Executive Director may 
delegate authority. 
 
Any appeals for changes to, or exceptions to, any portion of the conduct policy will be 
considered. An individual wishing to file an appeal shall submit it to the Executive 
Director in writing. The Executive Director will respond in writing. 
  
DRAFT MAY 16, 2019 
 



ORDINANCE 2019‐2 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING REGULATIONS FOR ELECTRONIC ATTENDANCE AT THE 
FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT BOARD MEETINGS 

 
WHEREAS, the Fountaindale Public Library District, Will and DuPage County, Illinois, is a 

public body created and existing under the laws of the State of Illinois; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the Open Meetings  Act,  5  ILCS  120/1  et  seq.  has  been  revised  to  permit 

electronic attendance at meetings of public bodies; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the Board of Trustees of  the  Fountaindale Public  Library District, Will and 

DuPage County,  Illinois  (“Library Board”),  believes  and  hereby  declares  that  it  is  in  the  best 
interests  of  the  Library  Board  to  allow  electronic  attendance  by  Trustees  at  Library  Board 
meetings, subject to certain conditions; and 
 

WHEREAS, before electronic attendance may be permitted, procedural  rules must be 
adopted by the Board of Trustees;  
 

NOW,  THEREFORE,  IT  IS  HEREBY  ORDAINED  BY  THE  BOARD  OF  TRUSTEES  OF  THE 
FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT, WILL and DUPAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1:  The  foregoing  recitals  are  incorporated  in  and  made  a  part  of  this 
Ordinance as though fully set forth herein. 
 

Section 2:  The following regulations shall apply to electronic attendance at meetings 
of the Board of Trustees of the Fountaindale Public Library District (the “Board”): 

 
1. If a quorum of the members of the Board is physically present as required by Section 

2.01 of  the Open Meetings Act, 5  ICLS 120/2.01,  the Board may allow a physically 
absent Trustee to attend the meeting by other means if the Trustee is prevented from 
physically attending because of:    (a) personal  illness or disability;  (b) employment 
purposes or  the business of  the public body; or  (c)  a  family or other  emergency; 
provided, no Trustee may attend a Board meeting by other means more  than  five 
times in any calendar year. 
 

2. "Other means," as used in these regulations, shall mean by video or audio conference. 
 
3. If a Trustee wishes to attend a meeting by other means, the Trustee must notify the 

recording secretary of the Library District before the meeting unless advance notice is 
impractical. 

 
4. A Trustee may participate by other means  at either  an open meeting or  a  closed 

meeting of the Board. 
 



2 
 

5. Written minutes of all Board meetings, whether open or closed, shall include whether 
the Trustee was physically present or present by means of audio or video conference. 

 
6. As the first item of business, the Trustees who are physically in attendance at a Library 

Board meeting  shall  determine,  by majority  vote, whether  a  Trustee who  is  not 
physically in attendance may participate in that meeting by other means.  After such 
a vote in favor of participation, the remote Trustee may vote on matters before the 
Board. 

 
  Section 3:  The language contained in this Ordinance shall be added to Article III of the 
By‐Laws of the Library District.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances conflicting with any of the 
provisions of this Ordinance are hereby modified or repealed to the extent of such conflict.   If 
any item or portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid, such decision shall not affect 
the validity of the remaining portion of such item or the remainder of this Ordinance. 
 
  Section 4:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption 
as provided by law.   
 

Adopted by roll call vote this ___ day of ___________, 2019. 
 
 
AYES:   
 
NAYS:   
 
ABSTAIN:     
 
ABSENT:   
 
   
 
              _________________________________ 
              Margaret J. (Peggy) Danhof 

President, Board of Trustees 
             
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Steven J. Prodehl 
Secretary, Board of Trustees 



ORDINANCE 2019‐3 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE BY‐LAWS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

OF THE FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT   
 

WHEREAS, the Fountaindale Public Library District, Will and DuPage County, Illinois, is a 
public body created and existing under the laws of the State of Illinois; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Fountaindale Public Library District desires to make certain amendments 

to its By‐Laws; and  
 
WHEREAS,  the Board of Trustees of  the  Fountaindale Public  Library District, Will and 

DuPage  County,  Illinois  find  that  approving  the  By‐Laws  of  the  Board  of  Trustees  of  the 
Fountaindale Public Library District attached as Exhibit A is in the best interest of the District;  
 

NOW,  THEREFORE,  IT  IS  HEREBY  ORDAINED  BY  THE  BOARD  OF  TRUSTEES  OF  THE 
FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT, WILL and DUPAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1:  The  foregoing  recitals  are  incorporated  in  and  made  a  part  of  this 
Ordinance as though fully set forth herein. 
 

Section 2:  The By‐Laws of Fountaindale Public Library District attached as Exhibit A 
are hereby approved.  
 
  Section 3:  The Board of Trustees of the Fountaindale Public Library District, Will and 
DuPage County, Illinois are authorized to take such further actions as may be necessary to carry 
out the purpose of this Ordinance. 
 
  Section 4:  All ordinances or parts of ordinances conflicting with any of the provisions 
of this Ordinance are hereby modified or repealed to the extent of such conflict.  If any item or 
portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity 
of the remaining portion of such item or the remainder of this Ordinance.   
 
  Section 5:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption 
as provided by law.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

Adopted by roll call vote this ___ day of ___________, 2019. 
 
AYES:   
 
NAYS:   
 
ABSTAIN:     
 
ABSENT:   
 
   
              _________________________________ 
              Margaret J. (Peggy) Danhof 

President, Board of Trustees 
               
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Steven J. Prodehl 
Secretary, Board of Trustees 
 
   



 

 

BY-LAWS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE  
FOUNTAINDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT 

 
ARTICLE I 

OFFICE 
 

The principal office of the Fountaindale Public Library District shall be located at the Fountaindale 
Public Library, 300 West Briarcliff Road, Bolingbrook, Illinois, 60440. The District may have 
such other offices within the boundaries of the District as the business of the District may require 
from time to time. 
 

ARTICLE II 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
SECTION 1. The Board of Trustees shall consist of seven (7) members unless otherwise  

prescribed by law, such as if a vacancy occurs. 
 

SECTION 2. The term of office for Trustees shall be six (6) years. 
 
SECTION 3. Trustees shall be nominated and elected in accordance with current Illinois 

election Code (10 ILCS 5/1-1 stet. seq.) and Public Library District Act of 1991, as amended from 
time to time (the “ACT”) (75 ILCS 16/1 et seq.).). 

 
SECTION 4. Vacancies that occur on the Board of  The Trustees shall take their oath of office 

as prescribed in Illinois law.   
 
SECTION 5.be filled in accordance  Resignation - Any Trustee may resign at any time by 

giving written notice to the President or Secretary. Such resignation shall take place effective when 
the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies a future date; and, unless otherwise specified 
therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. Upon receipt 
of such resignation, the Board President or designee will notify the Board of the resignation.  A 
vacancy will be declared by the Board pursuant to 75 ILCS 16/30-25. 

 
SECTION 6.  Conflict of Interest – Subject to the limitations listed in the Illinois Gift Ban 

Act, 5 ILCS 430/10-10, et. al., Board members and officers will not solicit or accept gifts, loans, 
gratuities, discounts, favors, hospitality, or services. Trustees who must take an official action that 
may be construed as conflicting with the personal, family, monetary, or employment interests 
should abstain from official action if there is no reasonable way to eliminate the conflict. Trustees 
will not engage in economic activity that involves the use or sale of information gained in the 
course of official duties in addition to any applicable provisions of the ActState Officials and 
Employees Ethics Act, 5 ILCS 430/1-1 et seq. 

 
SECTION 7.  Right to Indemnification - The Library will indemnify any present or former 

Trustee, officer, employee or agent to the fullest extent possible under applicable law against 
expenses, including attorneys' fees, judgments, fines, settlements and reasonable expenses, 
actually incurred by such person relating to his or her conduct as a Trustee, officer, employee, 



 

 

member or agent of the Library, except that indemnification shall not apply: to a breach of the duty 
of loyalty to the Library; for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional 
misconduct or knowing violation of the law; for a transaction from which such person derived an 
improper personal benefit; or against judgments, penalties, fines and settlements arising from any 
proceeding by or in the right of the Library, or against expenses in any such case, where such 
person shall be adjudged liable to the Library. 

 
 SECTION 8.  Insurance - The Library may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of 

any person to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. 
 
SECTION 9. Trustees shall serve without compensation but shall be reimbursed with 

District funds for their actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties. 
 
SECTION 610. The Trustees acknowledge that the By-Laws and library policies must 

comply with all applicable laws. 
 

ARTICLE III 
MEETINGS 

 
SECTION 1. REGULAR MEETINGS. The Board of Trustees shall hold regular monthly 

meetings which shall normally be held on the third Thursday of each month at the hour of 7 p.m. 
 
SECTION 2. SPECIAL MEETINGS. Special meetings of the Board of Trustees may be 

called by the President or the Vice President or by any four (4) Trustees. 
 
SECTION 3. PLACE OF MEETING. The Board of Trustees may designate any place 

convenient and open to the public as the place of meeting for the regular meeting. The Board of 
Trustees shall annually prepare a schedule of meetings showing date, time, and place; and shall 
publish this schedule prior to January 1 of each year; and shall post it in the libraries.library  The 
person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board of Trustees may designate any 
place convenient and open to the public as the place for holding any special meeting called by 
them. If no designation is made the place of meeting shall be in the Second Floor Board Room, 
300 West Briarcliff Road, Bolingbrook, Illinois, 60440. 
place of meeting shall be the District office. 
 

SECTION 4. CONDUCT OF MEETINGS. All meetings of the Board of Trustees, whether 
regular or special, shall be open to the public and shall be conducted in accordance with the Illinois 
Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/1-1 et seq.). 

 
  SECTION 5. NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETINGS. In addition to the notice required by 

the Illinois Open Meetings Act, written or printed notice stating the place, day, and hour of the 
special meeting, and the purpose or purposes for which hethe meeting is called, shall be delivered 
to each TrusteesTrustee, either personally or by mailemail. If mailedby email, such notice shall be 
deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail, addressedsent to the Trustee at the address 
as it appears on the records of theTrustee’s formal Library District, with postage prepaid thereon. email 
address. 

 



 

 

SECTION 6. QUORUM. A quorum at any meeting of the Board of Trustees of this 
District shall consist of four (4) Trustees; provided, that if fewer than four (4) of the Trustees are 
represented at any meeting, a majority of the Trustees at the meeting may adjourn the meeting from time 
to time.  If.  If a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of the majority of Trustees in attendance at 
the meeting shall be the act of the Board of Trustees, unless a vote of greater number is otherwise 
required by law. 

 
SECTION 7. VOTING. Each Trustee, including the President of the Board of Trustees, 

present at a meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be entitled to one (1) vote upon each matter 
submitted tofor a vote at the meeting. 

SECTION 8. MANNER OF VOTING. All votes on any questions shall be by roll call. 
 
SECTION 8. REMOTE ATTENDANCE.  If a quorum of the members of the Board is 

physically present as required by Section 2.01 of the Open Meetings Act, 5 ICLS 120/2.01, the 
Board may allow a physically absent Trustee to attend the meeting by other means if the Trustee 
is prevented from physically attending because of:  (a) personal illness or disability; (b) 
employment purposes or the business of the public body; or (c) a family or other emergency; 
provided, no Trustee may attend a Board meeting by other means more than five times in any 
calendar year. "Other means," as used in these regulations, shall mean by video or audio 
conference. If a Trustee wishes to attend a meeting by other means, the Trustee must notify the 
recording secretary of the Library District before the meeting unless advance notice is impractical. 
A Trustee may participate by other means at either an open meeting or a closed meeting of the 
Board. Written minutes of all Board meetings, whether open or closed, shall include whether the 
Trustee was physically present or present by means of audio or video conference. As the first item 
of business, the Trustees who are physically in attendance at a Library Board meeting shall 
determine, by majority vote, whether a Trustee who is not physically in attendance may participate 
in that meeting by other means.  After such a vote in favor of participation, the remote Trustee 
may vote on matters before the Board. 
 

SECTION 9.  MANNER OF VOTING. All votes on any questions shall be by roll call. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
OFFICERS 

 
SECTION 1. NUMBER. The officers of the Board of Trustees of the District shall be 

President; a Vice-President; a Treasurer; and a Secretary. Each office shall be held by a different 
Trustee. 

 
SECTION 2. ELECTION AND TERM OF OFFICE. Officers of the Board of Trustees 

shall be elected at the regular May meeting of the Board of Trustees following each biennial 

election. The term of office shall be two (2) years ending on the 30th day of April of each odd 
numbered year. Each officer shall hold office until a successor shall have been duly elected or 
appointed. 

SECTION 3. VACANCIES. Vacancies created by death, expiration of term as Trustee without 
being reelected, resignation, or other reason for disqualification may be filled at any meeting of the 



 

 

Board of Trustees for the unexpired portion of the term or until the next biennial election, whichever 
date first occurs. 

 
SECTION 3. VACANCIES. Pursuant to the 75 ILCS  16/30-25, vacancies shall be 

declared in the office of trustee by the board when an elected or appointed trustee (i) declines, 
fails, or is unable to serve, (ii) becomes a nonresident of the district, (iii) is convicted of a 
misdemeanor by failing, neglecting, or refusing to discharge any duty imposed upon him or her by 
this Act, or (iv) has failed to pay the library taxes levied by the district. Absence without cause 
from all regular board meetings for a period of one year shall be a basis for declaring a vacancy. 
Vacancies shall be filled by appointment by the remaining trustees until the next regular library 
election, at which time a trustee shall be elected for the remainder of the unexpired term. If, 
however, the vacancy occurs with less than 28 months remaining in the term, and if the vacancy 
occurs less than 88 days before the next regular scheduled election for this office, then the person 
so appointed shall serve the remainder of the unexpired term and no election to fill the vacancy 
shall be held.  

 
ARTICLE V 

DUTIES OF THE PRESIDENT 
 

SECTION 1. The President shall be the principal officer of the Board of Trustees.
 

SECTION 2. The President may sign, with the Secretary or any other proper officer of the 
Board of Trustees or person authorized by the Board of Trustees, any deeds, mortgages, bonds, 
contracts, or other instruments which the Board of Trustees has authorized to be executed. 

 
SECTION 3. The President shall preside over all meetings of the Board of Trustees. 

 
SECTION 4. The President shall appoint the Chairs and members of any committees 

deemed necessary by the Board of Trustees. 
 

SECTION 5. The President shall be the ex-officio member of any committee established 
by the Board of Trustees. 

 
SECTION 6. The President shall recommend to the Board an attorney to be retained by the 

Board for the District. 
 

SECTION 7. The President shall prepare an agenda for every meeting of the Board of 
Trustees.  

 
SECTION 8. The President shall not have nor exercise veto powers. 
 

SECTION 9. When there is a vacancy on the Board of Trustees, the President along with 
the advice and consent of the Board shall recommend a successor Trustee to be appointed in 
accordance with the Act. 

 



 

 

SECTION 10. The President shall, in general, perform all such other duties as may 
prescribed by law, or by ordinance, or by resolution of the Board of Trustees, and shall take care 
that such laws, ordinances, and resolutions are faithfully executed. 

 
ARTICLE VI 

DUTIES OF THE VICE PRESIDENT 
 

SECTION 1. The Vice President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Trustees 
during which the President is absent. 

 
SECTION 2. The Vice President shall be responsible for organizing workshops, retreats, 

and in-service days that may be conducted by the Board of Trustees. 
 

SECTION 3. The Vice President shall be responsible for coordinating the long range 
planning efforts of the Board of Trustees. 

 
ARTICLE VII 

DUTIES OF THE SECRETARY 
 

SECTION 1. The Secretary shall keep the corporate seal and all papers belonging to the 
District. 
 

SECTION 2. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of Trustees and keep 
minutes of such meetings. The minutes shall include the names of those in attendance, the 
ordinances enacted, resolutions, rules and regulations adopted, and a record of all other pertinent 
matters that affecteffect the operation of the District. Copies of all papers filed with the Secretary, 
transcripts from journals and other records and files of the Secretary’s office, certified under the 
corporate seal of the District, shall be evidence in all courts in like manner as if the original were 
produced. 
 

SECTION 3. The Secretary shall insure that all notices are duly given as required by law. 
 

SECTION 4. The Secretary shall insure that the corporate seal of the District is affixed to 
all documents, the execution of which on behalf of the District under its seal is duly authorized by 
law. 

 
SECTION 5. The Secretary shall keep a register of the names, home addresses, mailing 

addresses, and telephone numbers of the Trustees of this District, which information shall be 
furnished to the Secretary by the several Trustees. 

 
SECTION 6. The Secretary shall record, in a book to be kept for that purpose, all 

ordinances adopted by the Board of Trustees. At the foot of the record of each ordinance so 
recorded a memorandum shall be made showing the date of passage and the date of publication or 
posting of such ordinance. This record and memorandum, or a certified copy thereof, shall be 
prima facie evidence of the passing and legal publishing or posting of such ordinances for all 
purposes whatsoever. 



 

 

 
SECTION 7. The records of the Secretary shall be subject to an audit by two (2) other 

Trustees, appointed by the President, as prescribed in the Act, 
 

SECTION 8. The Secretary shall have the power to administer oaths and affirmations for 
the purposes of the Act. 

 
 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
DUTIES OF THE TREASURER 

 
SECTION 1. The Treasurer of the District shall give bond to the District to faithfully 

discharge the duties of the office and to account to the District for all District funds coming into 
the hands of the Treasurer and which bond shall be in such amount and with such sureties as shall 
be approved by the Board. The amount of the bond shall be based upon a minimum of fifty percent 
(50%) of the total funds received by the District in the last previous fiscal year. The cost of any 
surety bond shall be borne by the District.   

 
SECTION 2. The Treasurer shall receive all monies belonging to the District and shall keep 

and maintain accounts and records of the District which reflect all receipts, disbursements, and 
balances in any of the District funds. These accounts and records shall always be subject to the 
inspection of any member of the Board of Trustees. 

 
SECTION 3. The Treasurer shall promptly deposit or cause to be deposited all monies 

belonging to the District in the name of the District in such banks or other depositories as shall be 
selected by the Board of Trustees and pursuant to 75 ILCS 16/35-25. 

 
SECTION 4. The Treasurer shall insure that District funds are fully invested at all times in 

interest bearing accounts as shall be approved by the Board of Trustees. 
 

SECTION 5. The Treasurer shall at the end of each and every month, and more often if 
required by the Board of Trustees, submit an accounting to the Board of Trustees showing the 
status of the District treasury at the date of such accounting and the balance of funds in the treasury.  
This accounting shall be accompanied by a statement of all receipts into the treasury and all 
expenditures made by the treasury on behalf of the District. This accounting and statement shall 
be filed with the Secretary. 

 
SECTION 6. An audit for each fiscal year shall be conducted by an accountant authorized 

to practice public accounting under the laws of the State of Illinois. 
 
SECTION 7. In the absence of both the President and the Vice President, the Treasurer 

shall preside at the meeting. 
 

ARTICLE IX 



 

 

COMMITTEES 
 

SECTION 1. The Board of Trustees shall meet as a committee of the whole for those 
activities which require committee action. However, the President may appoint separate 
committees or liaisons as may be determined by the Board of Trustees. 

 
 
 
 
 

ARTICLE X 
CONTRACTS, CHECKS AND DEPOSITS 

 
SECTION 1. The Board of Trustees may authorize any officer or officers or employee or 

employees of the District to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the 
name of and on behalf of the District, and such authority may be general or confined to specific 
instances. 

 
SECTION 2. All checks, drafts or other orders for payment of money, notes or other 

evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the District shall be signed by such officer or 
officers of the Board of Trustees or employee or employees of the District and in such manner as 
shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Trustees. 

 
SECTION 3. All funds of the District not otherwise employed shall be deposited in a timely 

manner to the credit of the District in interest bearing accounts in such banks or other depositories 
as the Board of Trustees may select. 

 
ARTICLE XI 

BOOKS AND RECORDS 
 

The District shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and shall also keep 
minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Trustees, and shall keep a record of the names, 
addresses, and telephone numbers of the Trustees. To the extent required by law and subject to the 
Library Records Confidentiality Act, 75 ILCS 70/1 and other applicable laws, books and records 
of the District are open to inspection by any person residing in the District at all reasonable and 
proper times. 

 
ARTICLE XII 

FISCAL YEAR 
 

The fiscal year of the District shall commence on July 1st and close on June 30th of each and every 
year. 
 

ARTICLE XIII 
CORPORATE SEAL 

 



 

 

SECTION 1. The Corporate Seal of the District shall be in circular form and so constructed 
as to impress upon paper around the outer edge of said seal the words “THE FOUNTAINDALE 
PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT” and in the interior or center of said circle the words 
“CORPORATE SEAL ILLINOIS”, and such seal is hereby adopted and declared to be a seal of 
the District. Said seal shall be used in all cases where it shall be required by the laws of the United 
States of America, the law or laws of any of the several States, or in the ordinances of the District. 

 
SECTION 2. Said seal shall be kept in the District office. 

 
 

ARTICLE XIV 
RULES OF PROCEDURE AND ORDER OF BUSINESS 

 
The current edition of “Roberts’ Rules of Order” shall govern the proceedings of the Board of 
Trustees except when in conflict with the foregoing rules. 

 
ARTICLE XV 

AMENDMENTS 
 

These By-Laws may be amended by an ordinance proposed at any regular meeting of the Board 
of Trustees which is adopted at the next succeeding meeting. 
 



















































































 

 

May 2019 Monthly Board Report 
Paul Mills 
 
 
Director 
 
Bookmobile Bid 
 
The bid for a new bookmobile was published in the paper and subsequently sent to 8 
vendors.  Bids are due in June, and we anticipate making a recommendation to the 
Board at the July Board Meeting. 
 
 
Deputy Director (Nancy Korczak) 
 
During the month of April I was able to host and offer tours to different groups.  A graduate class 
from the University of Illinois visited our library. They are taking a Library Buildings tour and 
Fountaindale is one of theirs stops of their weekend long trip to the Chicago area to explore 
different libraries.  I took fifteen students around the library pointing out the different architectural 
features of the building and the design that work well for us.  Students were very interested in 
learning how our patrons use our space and were very impressed with the Studio.  
 
Later in the month I hosted a group from the Small Business coalition group from the Chamber 
of Commerce. The group learned about our services and then Jeffrey Fisher gave them an 
extensive tour of Studio 300. Members of the group were looking forward to coming back and 
working in the Studio.   
 
I ended the month by working with the Outreach Department and hosting a tour for a 
Kindergarten teacher from one of local schools.  She invited students and their parents to meet 
her here in the evening. Outreach staff did a story time for the children and I took the parents 
around the library and gave the tour in Spanish. The parents were very interested in our 
services and asked lots of questions.  
 
From Amina Ali’s report  

Circulation Services Department Report 
 

 Food for Fines (National Library Week: April 7-13) 
  
  



 

 

Total Boxes Collected 46 

Total Number of Items Collected 1,515

Total Amount of Fines Forgiven $2,223.39

 
From Kate’s Report: 
 
“We had several people pay off their accounts with the canned goods and then give extra to 
both the food pantry and walked out and put more in the micro pantry. It was great to see so 
many patrons give back to the community.” 
 
We saw a decline from last year for items collected, it was 2,098. This was about a 27% 
decrease. For next year, the Circulation Staff discussed ways to increase advertising to make 
patron’s aware of Food for Fines week. 
 

 Updated Bike Lock Procedures 
o For checking out bike locks this summer, patrons must have an active and good 

standing library card. 
o Bike locks are 4 hour checkouts, and must be returned 15 minutes before closing 

(bike locks are not permitted to leave the library premises). 
o Circulation will keep a separate log to track bike log checkouts. 
o For fines and overdues, locks will be charged $0.10 every hour (up to $5.00), $25 

if returned in a bookdrop or the AMH, or billed for replacement cost if not 
returned by closing. 

 
 

 PIRC Meeting @ Plainfield Public Library 
o Matt H talked about purging Reciprocal Borrower Accounts 

 Currently in the consortia, we have 7,000 XYZ patrons. We will be using 
the parameters: 

 No activity in 2  years 
 No more than $10 in fines 

o Matt H also talked about finding more consistency in Leap with the 
“Neighborhood Field”. Instead of using the “Short Note” field for patron’s home 
library, the Neighborhood Field will be updated to a drop down menu consisting 
of reciprocal libraries. Matt will keep PIRC Managers updated as he works on 
this. 

Circulation Statistics 
 

New Patrons Registered 201

Holds Pulled From Shelves 6962

Incoming Rails Bins 237

 

 

 



 

 

Drive Up Statistics Summary 
 

 We had 860 visits (pick-ups) at the drive through this April, which is up from 859 in 
March.  

o This amounts to a .12 percent increase from last month. 
o Also, total visits were up 2.02 percent from April of last year (843 last year). 
o And we had an average of 33.7 visits per day this month, up from last month 

(32.4). 
 The busiest day of April was Tuesday, April 30th with 43 total visits. 
 The busiest time period was 3-6, with 306 total visits throughout the month. 

 

In-House Circulation: March 2019 In-House Circulation: April 2019 

Total  3,025 Total 2,549 

 
 
From Marianne Thompson’s report 
 

Outreach Services 
 
Adult Volunteers: 4 volunteers worked at 3 programs for a total of 9.5 hours 
 
Highlights: 

Carolyn Boyer joined the Outreach Team on April 22, as our new 
Assistant Manager. Carolyn recently worked at Wheaton Public 
Library as the Community Engagement Librarian, and at New 
Lenox Public Library as the Youth Services Assistant 
Manager.  Carolyn will be visiting the departments to get an 
overview of our library services.  She has already worked on the 
Bookmobile & Library Express Van!  I am looking forward to 
working with Carolyn as she learns all the many moving parts of 
our Outreach Service. 

 
 
 
Cindy’s return 
While Cindy was out on medical leave, we missed her as a staff, 
but one of the school classes made a great sign for her, “Glad to 
have you back Mrs. C!”  There were several other “banana” signs 
given to her with similar sentiments.  She was very happy to 
resume her book talks with the elementary students.  Mrs. Ureel, 
has her Kindergarten class write sentences using the puppet show 
Cindy presents, as inspiration.  She wrote down everything the “Fat 
Cat” ate and the students were to use each one in a sentence.  It 
is wonderful to see the rapport between teachers, students, and 
Cindy, as they use what she is doing to support the curriculum. 
 
 
 
 



 

 

National Bookmobile Day: April 10, 2019 

 
It was a cold and rainy day, and Outreach celebrated the day with tables inside the library for our 
giveaways, a chance to spin our wheel for prizes, meeting with storytime and booktalk presenters, 
and checking out materials on the Bookmobile.  Marleigha organized the day for the staff, and did 
a wonderful job!  She took photos and worked at the craft table. Cindy and some puppets 
entertained patrons of all ages.  Besides working at the tables, Laura single-handedly saved the 
spinner from crashing to the floor when an enthusiastic patron gave it a spin!  Melissa handed out 
the trivia questions while working at the tables.  Sarah worked at the craft table and on the 
Bookmobile.  I worked on the Bookmobile for two shifts, and others took a turn as well.  I heard 
from CSD staff that they want us to do that again, because it was so much fun for the patrons, as 
well as the CSD staff! Outreach staff did a great job providing a fun two hours for our public and 
staff. 
 
STEM Night at Independence School – April 25 

 
 
Melissa had 90 people visit her table at 
Independence.  She took our 3D pens to demonstrate, 
which sparked a lot of interest.  One parent asked her 
where she could buy these!  Another parent asked if the 
pens were available to use at the library. 
 
 
 

 
Tons of Trucks:  April 28   
 

 
 
We were given a new spot to park the Bookmobile this year – right in front of the BRAC 
building!  We had good position for people to notice the Bookmobile.  It was very easy to leave 
the grounds after the event.  Carolyn & I hosted the Vendor table inside, while Melissa & Dennis 
worked on the Bookmobile.  Everyone loved the green card holders, our mood pencils, and the “I 
Love the Bookmobile” stickers.  Those who visited the Bookmobile also received our Bookmobile 
coloring page that you can tape together to create a vehicle! We were very happy the snow melted 
away from the previous day, and we had a cold, but sunny day! 
 
 
 



 

 

Friends of Fountaindale Appreciation Dinner – April 24 
The Friends approved funding for the Ice Cream Social ice 
cream, Great Page Race, Rockin’ Reading Race, Artist in 
Residence (Studio 300), and additional dolls for CSD, as well 
as new toys to help develop a child’s imagination and 
creativity.  Vice President Art Bilski did not run for re-election 
since he and his wife will be moving to Florida.  Jean Walsh was 
elected as Vice President.  39 attended the dinner. 
 
Melissa made her second visit to Atria to provide a program to 
the Memory Care residents.  She printed photos of famous 
people the residents would know and read facts about the 
person.  She played the game “Hangman” and chose phrases 
from a memory care book.  The residents had to guess the 
letters – this was well received.   
At the Autumn Leaves visit, Melissa brought the game Balloon 
Volleyball and a small golfing set. Melissa challenged the 
residents to get the ball through two holes at once.  Melissa also 
provided a bilingual storytime for Ms. Hernandez’ kindergarten 
class from Independence, while Nancy gave a tour to their 

parents.  This event happens twice in the school year.   
 
IKEA storytime 
Dennis took on two storytimes at Panera and IKEA while Laura was 
on vacation.  The theme for the month was “parks”.  He read from 
interactive books, and provided activity songs.  Dennis does a great 
job in these storytimes, and the children always have a great time with 
him.  I had no idea IKEA had such a nice set-up for the cookies and 
treats after the storytime!  I hope to attend the IKEA storytime in May.
  
 
Marleigha attended the Independence Multicultural Night on April 
4.  She provided some great giveaways and promoted our library 
services to 99 people.  She also registered people for library cards.  This 
is the largest attendance at our vendor table ever for a multicultural 
event!   
 
Laura attracts many people to the Bolingbrook Museum 
Storytimes.  This has become an excellent partnership.  At other 
storytimes during the month, Laura experienced a lot of “spring fever” 
from the children she visited at the preschools.  It was a lively month! 
She ended the month with one class singing to her on her birthday and giving her cards!  A nice 
way to end the month! 
 
Sarah hosts the Heritage Woods book club.  Many of the members had not been feeling well for 
the past couple of months, and we hope with spring actually here, more will return.  Two members 
attended the discussion of “I’ve Got My Eyes On You,” by Mary Higgins Clark.  Next month they 
will read a nonfiction book by Bill Bryson called “The Road to Little Dribbling.” 
 
I was contacted by the Outreach Librarian in Hays, KS with several questions about our Sprinter 
Van.  They are considering hiring Farber to build their van.  They asked a lot of questions about 
what we do during poor weather conditions, maintenance costs, and if our Van is still in good 



 

 

condition.  They were pleased to hear our experience was positive with Farber, and that our Van 
is working well and used in many different ways. 
 
Repairs & Maintenance of Outreach Vehicles: 
April 10 – New seat belt & sensor for the Van installed 
April 17 – Bookmobile & Van taken in for biannual inspection.  Bookmobile tires are showing tire 
rot.  We replaced tires 9 years ago.  Marianne asked Diesel Services for the name of a vendor 
to call. 
April 18 – Van taken to Mobility Works – lift was not moving upward correctly.  Parts had to be 
ordered, warranty expired in 2018. 
April 24 – Bookmobile taken to Bauer Built in Romeoville for tire inspection.  Vendor had tires in 
stock.  Set date for install. 
April 29 – Van to Mobility Works for lift parts to be installed; found out the box number was 
correct, parts inside were wrong.  Will reschedule when correct parts come in. 
 
 
From Jeffrey Fisher’s report 

Studio 300 
 
Here is an overview of the April 2019 Studio 300 stats: 

 712 patrons actively used our spaces. 
 2563  items were checked out. 

o 118 of that total circulated out of the lab. 
 38  patrons attended our 12 Orientations. 
 330 patrons came to our 39 other Adult/T(w)een programs and tours. 

o Total programming hours came to 60.5 
 13 Non-FPLD people used Studio 300. 
 Maker-related: 5 people created 20 items plus an additional 48 3D prints. 
 And there were about 2531 blog page views. 

 
Patrick C. and Justin C. guided our first monthly Open Mic event to a rousing success with its 
mix of poetry and music from the seven performers and the supportive audience. Blog post and 
pictures here. Adriana A. started her (two!) new Film Clubs for FPLD movie fans. 
 
Anna G. and Joe P. took our Maker tech on the road twice this month: The Independence 
Elementary School STEAM Fair (with 98 people stopping by) and the Bolingbrook High School 
one, too (with 87 people stopping by). Attendees asked questions and checked out various 
maker tech brought along to demo at these events. 
 

It's rare Studio staff gets to see the finished results from a program. 
Patron LaVale K. was kind enough to lend his business card where he 
used the photo taken during March's Professional Headshots event. 
 
 
 
Jeffrey joined ATSD-Teens 
Randi C. for the annual 
Brooks Middle School 
Career Fair where he spoke 
to about 180 students. 
 
 



 

 

Jeffrey and Wil C. interviewed candidates for both the vacant F/T and P/T positions. After 
reviewing these, we promoted Justin C. to full-time to fill the spot vacated by the retiring Joe P. 
This means we have two remaining P/T slots open. Congratulations to Justin on his new 
expanded role serving our FPLD community. 
 

April saw the install of our new millwork 
and countertop which allowed us to 
empty Room A and merge all of our 
maker functions into Studio 300 proper. 
And on April 13 we held classes all day 
to introduce patrons to these maker 
machines. 
 
Jeffrey had a busy month with the 
Tinker Technology Troupe planning 
their Summer Make-A-Mess Fests, an 
overview of the new bookmobile 

process, instruction on the LibraryAware software for building web carousels from Christina T., 
and helping Debra D. with the PBS Genealogy video. He gave the new Outreach Assistant 
Manager, Carolyn B., a Studio 300 overview and guided Steven F. with instructions for making 
screen-based videos. He also met with John M. from IT to discuss the next round of extensive 
software updates to the Studio 300 iMacs and Macbook Pro computers. Jeffrey also attended 
the start of the annual Friends dinner (and discovered his proposal for a 2020 Artist-in-
Residence program had been approved). He attended two days of the DPLA Fest in downtown 
Chicago and focused on those presentations and libraries building their local collections. He 
came away with good information to deploy here at FPLD. Of course, he attended his usual 
meetings: Manager's, Programming, Summer Adventure, and PIC. 
 
Jeffrey hosted four people from the Chamber Small Business group for an in-depth tour of 
Studio 300. And, once again, the Independence Elementary Indy Filmmakers came to Studio 
300 two times to begin the editing of their latest video made during the Winter-Spring after 
school activity. See our blog post. 
 
Jeffrey worked closely with the Soon to Be Famous team on the Manuscript Contest winner 
announcement. The team interviewed the winner under the pretense we were interviewing all 
the finalists. During the interview, we told her she'd won, and her reaction is worth watching. 
The video is here on the FPLD YouTube channel. 

 

 
And finally, after six+ years of dedicated service, Studio Services said farewell to Joe P. who 
retired at the end of the month. We wish him amazing success on his life's next adventure! 
 



 

 

From Debra Dudek’s Report 

Adult and Teen Services 

 
General Comments on the Month 

April was a transition month for our department, as our team made a smooth transition between 
winter and early spring to spring/early summer programming opportunities.  Our supervisors 
worked diligently to review candidates and conduct interviews for two vacant specialist 
positions, and to complete training of another recent hire.  We received news this month that our 
amazing reference librarian Tom Degutis will be retiring at the end of June.  We are saddened 
to see him leave our team, and we wish him well in his retirement. 

 
Our team completed their evaluations for our library’s database collection.  We have conducted 
these evaluations in previous years, and we have enjoyed seeing what products could be better 
utilized by patrons, what can be cut to make way for better resources, and what items we’d like 
to add to our list to share with the community.  There are several companies offering similar 
online services, such as Joanne Fabrics branching out into online crafting tutorials and live 
streaming services.  Skillshare offers similar video based classes similar to Lynda.com, however 
they have not licensed their videos beyond a beta subscription with a few organizations.  As our 
library invests substantial funds into our databases, it is important to ensure our patrons are well 
connected to these resources and feel comfortable using them at home, on the go, and in the 
library. 

 
During National Library Week, the library 
hosted an author visit and book signing 
with Gail Lukasik, author of White Like 
Her: My Family’s Story of Race and 
Racial Passing.  In her program on April 
10, Gail shared her story of participating 
on the television series PBS Genealogy 
Roadshow, and was selected to return to 
the show for a follow up interview.  Gail’s 
presentation and reading were fantastic, 
and her program garnered 28 attendees.  
Following the program, Gail signed 
copies of her book and chatted with many 
of our patrons.  She also shared news of 
how her book is being made into a Netflix 
series which should be in development 
within a few years.   

 
Programming (includes):  
YA Programs: 

Randi’s Observations: April was a busy month for me, much of the time spent preparing and 
presenting programs. I helped out with our Teen Makers DIY. Students used bits and pieces 
from broken electronics to craft sculptures. Christine Thornton and Catherine Stanek-Whisler 
both presented popular programs. Christine taught our teens how to paint spring trees using 
watercolor pencils. Catherine helped our students make art pieces. They hot glued crayons to 
canvas which were then melted to create these fantastic patterns. They then added silk flowers. 
The results were all fantastic. We had two great groups of volunteers in during Spring Break that 
helped stuff most of the 1500 Summer Adventure folders. In fact, Marcy, our practicum student, 
was able to finish these off so now we are all set for June 1 - the start of our program. 



 

 

 
I visited Brooks, Humphrey and Jane Addams Middle Schools with Outreach. I also attended 
Brooks Middle School’s Annual College and Career Fair with Jeffrey Fisher. I pulled materials 
for three special displays. For the craft, students used scrabble tiles to make their own word 
magnets. Ashe put together pre-made kits for these visits; however, students chose to make 
their own words. Our last monthly visits meant we visited Brooks again on Tuesday, April 29. 
We pulled out our button maker. I made new button templates featuring Marvel characters, 
musicians, My Hero Academia and more. We had 80 students stop by our table at Brooks. This 
is the most we have had all year. Buttons are always a big hit! 

 
I had a great time talking with students about how I became a librarian, my educational 
background and my position at Fountaindale. Several students asked really insightful questions. 
I also brought our prize wheel along with pop sockets, pencils, library card holders and a few 
drawstring bags. Students could spin the wheel as long as they asked either one of us a 
question. 

 
Teen Programming 

 We had a large group for a no-school day Anime Night 
this month of 14 teens! Most of them came specifically 
for anime night. Ashe let them loose on the library’s 
anime Blu-ray collection and they chose Fairy Tail! A 
good time was had by all.  

 There were nine attendees for Dungeons and Dragons 
this month.  It was great to see some familiar faces at 
this fantastic program. 

 We had 19 teens attend our Smash Tournament!  It 
wasn’t as hectic as we imagined it would be, however. 
The new tournament mode with the Switch helps streamline the process and Ashe took 
input from the teens last time and implemented it this time. She created a specific ruleset 
for the game to keep everything fair (no special items or battlefield maps). All the kids 
were good sports and had fun! The final match was especially close, it was super fun to 
watch!   

 Our Marvel Party was relatively chill but no less fun with 13 teens. Ashe reports their 
favorite parts were the scavenger hunt and the perler bead crafts. It was especially fun 
hiding the scavenger hunt items in weird places and seeing how long it took for them to 
be found. 

 We had 16 teens attend the Melted Crayon Art program.  This amazingly cool and 
intricate program was a huge crowd pleaser!  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Test Proctoring:  

As far as Proctor student needs, this month there were ten exams taken.  Five were for General 
Studies while there was none for Real Estate.  The ratio of students was 5:0, in favor of 
women.  All the students were from Bolingbrook. Four of the exams were paper while one of the 
exams was online. 
 

 
Career Online High School: 

Currently Enrolled: 7 

Currently Enrolled 30 Day Probation: 0 

Currently Enrolled Completed 30 Day Probation:0 

Students 75% Through Program: 3 

Graduate: 20 

 
 
Maureen’s Observations:  Programming was steady this month.  Though ESL numbers were a 
little bit lower than usual.  Summer programming is finalized and our staff is really excited to see 
our patrons participate in a new slate of programming.  I plan to meet with Tony, Jenna, Debra 
and Randi soon to discuss fall programming ideas. 

 
Programs 

 4/3/19 - DIY String Art - Cathryn Stanek Whisler of Plentiful Programs taught our patrons 
how to make a masterpiece using different types of string and paint.  There were 16 
attendees.  The projects turned out great!  Unfortunately I didn’t get any photos. 

 4/10/19 - Easter Basket Cupcakes - Kausi Chandran of Kaycee Creations taught our 
patrons how to make these cute cupcakes.  There were 14 attendees.  Some patrons 
felt like the class was more for beginners and were disappointed that they only got to 
decorate and take home 1 cupcake.  In a past program with a different presenter, they 
were able to take 3 cupcakes home.  Kausi’s baked goods are homemade in a 
commercial kitchen where the other program, everything was store bought.  She is a 
wonderful presenter and most patrons enjoyed this program. 

 

 
 

 



 

 

 

 4/17/19 - Cooking Demo - 
Springtime in Italy-- For this 
program we were blessed to 
have both Chef Maddoxs 
here- Susan and Michael.  
Susan led the class with 
Michael as her Sous Chef.  
They get great cooking tips 
and insight on Italian 
cooking.  They are fun 
presenters and patrons enjoy 
their classes as they are 
engaged and they also ask a 
lot of questions.  Although 
Susan is contracted out for 
future programs, we hope to 
see Michael at another one 
soon! 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Here is an excerpt of Tony Nguyen’s Report. 

General Comments – For the month of April, I’ve heard back from the Chicago Swordplay Guild 
and finalizing their appearance for the fall programming season so I’m very excited for that. I 
was quite pleased to see the new Scan Stations and scanners that replaced the older model on 
the 2nd Floor. It’s been working great and I’ve observed an improved experience with patrons 
who use it. 

Here is an excerpt of Jenna DiSandro’s Report: 

General Comments: I was in charge of some adult programs this month for the first time a 
couple weekends ago. I met with the instructors for yoga, line dancing, and Zumba before their 
classes to deliver rosters and checks. It went well and every one of them was ridiculously kind 
and made me wish I could stay for their class.  
     

Specialist Highlight 

Ivette Castaneda 

This month I encountered a patron that needed assistance how to access an application 
through the employer website. After trying different browsers I suggested to contact the 
employer to let them know the link was not working. The patron came back and updated me that 
it was in fact a glitch in their website.  

 
I have continued to help other departments with translations when called down and patrons 
coming up to the desk looking for help in Spanish. I was able to help out in the vortex during 
their busy game play days. I was able to prioritize and have them wait for their controllers 
instead of being rushed in trying to get all of their controllers at once. 



 

 

Specialist Highlight 

Jay Purrazzo 

This month I completed Drawing for Absolute Beginners through Gale Courses. I posted a 
review of the class on X-Meets-Y. I would recommend this class to anyone interested in art as a 
hobby because it has one of the most involved instructors on the platform and it was a big help 
to my own growth in the hobby. I will try to bring it up to anyone who comes up to the 3rd floor 
for the material’s list for our own art classes hosted in the library. I also wrote a post on the 
Genealogy blog on the digitization of Homestead Act records, which contain a lot of useful 
information for all kinds of genealogy projects. The Chills and Thrills Book Club is still going, but 
attendance has been slowly dropping with only eight members attending this month. 

 
From Wendy Birkemeier’s report 

Children Services Department 

 
Monthly Overview of Children’s Services: Surprise! Surprise! We experienced several snowy 
days this month. Spring Break’s Undersea Adventure and our celebration of El Día de los 
Niños, el Día de los Libros were April highlights. We introduced two new ways to promote our 
collection, commemorated National Library Week, attended the Friends of the Library dinner, 
and completed copy for the summer Fountain. At the end of the month Wendy B. announced 
that she would retire at the end of June 2019. 
 
Programming: 2154 people attended 159 programs in April!  
 
 
Spring Break Week (23 programs, 567attendance) 
Sarah D. and Chris Z. coordinated our spring break 
theme, which was inspired by the Students Rebuild 
Ocean Challenge. “For every artwork you send us, the 
Bezos Family Foundation will donate $2 (up to $500K) toward 
youth‐focused ocean conservation and restoration efforts in 
coastal communities, helping to increase awareness, provide 
jobs and build community resilience. Students Rebuild 
Website” We sent photos of 85 ocean creatures that 
children made from paper to Students Rebuild. Because 
we submitted ours before Earth Day, each creature counted as double - $4 apiece ($340 total). 
Debbie S. “had the teens cut out ocean animal die cuts to put in the Creativity Park. The kids 
could color and decorate them and we added them to the Ocean bulletin board.” Chris Z. 
transformed the Storytime Room into a magical undersea realm, which added lots of 
atmosphere to the movies, storytimes, sleepover, and other programs that were held there 
during the week. Drop-in activities included an estimation jar filled with shells and ocean animals 
of all sizes (83 participants), five scavenger hunts that took children through our collection (127), 
and five crafts (124).  
 



 

 

Noche de la Familia: Bajo del Mar (34) Our 
program went very well and it was a lot of fun. 
When kids entered the room they saw the 
coral reef created by Chris with fish, 
anemones and corals, a deep sea video was 
playing on the screens and they all gathered 
around the light table to play with the fish and 
gel beads. A nice ocean music was playing in 
the background. Sarah, behind the red 
curtain, had the manatee puppet sticking out 
and moving and they loved it. I wanted to 
thank Chris for decorating the room so 
wonderfully. Our program had 2 parts. The first part was 
dedicated to songs, activities and a story…On the second 
part of the program we moved to Creativity Park to create 
an art project. We used plastic forks to paint a puffer fish 
with tempera colors. Families had a great time. Andreea D. 
 
Stuffed Animal Sleepover and Snacktime (2 programs, 
38 attendance) Susan F. and Rosemary B. hosted the 
Sleepover. Susan F. wrote, “The storytime room was 
decorated with an Under the Sea theme and I turned the 
lights down a little and had the colored lights on. I also 
played a beach video in the background.” After the children put their toys to bed following a 
storytime and craft, Rosemary B. and her adult volunteer took photos around the building, which 
Rosemary turned into an iMovie. 

 
 

    When the children came back the next morning they watched the movie. Kathy B. 
commented, “I was able to read a story and sing some songs, along with teaching them a little 
hula dancing. The kids had a great time seeing their friends running amuck in the 
library.”             
 
 

 

 

 



 

 

El Día de los Niños (4 programs, 232 attendance) 
Another fun day celebrating diversity, children, and books! Despite the unexpected snow, we 
had a wonderful turnout. Our events were posted on ALSC’s National Día  

 

 
 

 Make-It Take-It (75) Rosemary B. planned out a variety of crafts inspired by different cultures. 
There were projects for all ages, and the patrons seemed to enjoy creating them! She received 
many thank you's and compliments on everything.  

 

 
Ballet Folklorico Infinity (67) I hosted this event and was wowed again! The dancers range in 
age from 5 to 18 years old, and they are all very talented. They added new dances to their 
show, including Flamenco and an all-boys performance of Los Machetes (they used plastic toy 
machetes.) Dawn Calderon, the group director, told me they practice twice a week and have 
been performing at community events and private parties. They had 3 shows scheduled for 
today including our event! They are a hardworking group, and I am so glad we were able to host 
their show. 
 

 
 
Trinity Irish Dancers (41) Though Debbie hosted the 
show, I stepped in for a few minutes to take photos with 
our DSLR camera. The dancers and their teachers 
brought children from the audience on stage with them 
and taught them how to dance the jig. The kids had fun 
and caught on to the steps quickly! There was also a 
familiar face among the younger group of Trinity’s 
dancers; Ashley’s daughter Liana performed! 



 

 

 
A big thank you to Sarah for 
creating a display for Día in the 
wooden cart! I saw patrons 
browsing the display. I hope 
they checked out books! I will 
make a note to request a bigger 
display for next year’s Día, 
using the yellow wall or the 
display by the Storytime Room. 
Joyce A. 
 
 
 

 
 
Arts & Crafts 
 
Reading & Writing 
S’mores Book Club (8) I had fun filling in for Joyce at S’mores Club this month. I was grateful 
to have so many regulars that helped me and the new kids. Studio was so helpful as always. 
Jeffrey was fantastic with the kids that wanted to record their reviews. Adriana helped me keep 
calm and get the drive to work when it wouldn’t. Anna and Joe helped with the computers while I 
ran upstairs to help one of the kids find a different book to review. Chris Z. 
 
STEAM & Learning Fun 
iMake (17 = 13c, 4a) Chris and I hosted iMake. … We had many fun 
activities set up for the kids to do. …we had the iPads with the 
Pokémon game. Chris also set up the AR feature on the Pokémon 
game and the kids were able to take fun pictures with the different 
Pokémon from the game. Next to the iPads, we had dot markers and 
spring coloring pages….There were also Crystal Connectors, the 
wooden blocks, a few of the Pen Writers and 2 large puzzles. … I 
noticed a little girl about 8 or 9 years old working on the large fish 
puzzle alone…I sat down next to the little girl and asked her if we 
could do the puzzle together. It was so relaxing and calming to work 
on the puzzle. As iMake was ending, we finally finished. The little girl 
was so proud of finishing the puzzle; she called her mom and sister to 
show off her hard work. Marta M.  

 

 
 



 

 

Imagineers Club: Imagine under the Sea (6) Andreea D. based her program on The World 
Above book series. Children studied sharks, created an ocean ecosystem in a bottle and 
explored the SeaShine app, which Andreea put on all the iPads. One mom commented to her 
son, “Wow! This bottle is really pretty! I didn’t know you are going to make something so pretty!” 
Andreea D. 
 
Mini Math Monsters 
(15) and Number 
Ninjas (4): Catapult 
There is nothing like 
shooting pom poms 
and Lego bricks from 
slingshots and 
catapults of your own 
making! Rosemary B. 
and Susan F. 
concluded their math club series with this popular activity. With 
some practice and modifications, kids were able to knock down a wall of boxes 
constructed from Ellison dies. 
 
Adventures in Homeschooling: Faraway Places at Your Fingertips: Haiti (2 
programs, 96 attendance) Homeschool Haiti was a scientific sort of day. Since 
we are winding down our year we located all of the continents, the equator, 
talked about the weather when you live closer to the equator, jet streams, 
hurricane currents, earthquakes, the Richter scale, deforestation, why 
deforestation creates problems when natural disasters occur and why cholera is a problem. 
From its rich and luxurious beginnings, through many political changes and now being one of 
the poorest countries in the world, we made our way across 4 centuries but were able to end 
with hope on our minds. Haiti is working towards economic growth and political peace but these 
things do take time. With the U.N. finally ending its 13 year peacekeeping mission on the Island, 
they are rebuilding armies and ready to move forward.  
 

Because building structures that can withstand hurricanes 
and earthquakes are crucial, we learned about 
construction and how they are improving living conditions. 
After a general talk on the subject, we gave small groups 
marshmallows and toothpicks and instructed them to 
make a two story building. The purpose was to see if they 
could create an earthquake proof structure. After about ten 
minutes of work, we tested the structures out in a pan of 
gelatin. Starting with mild earthquake shaking of 3.5 on the 
Richter scale to a violent eruption depicting a 7.6 on the 
Richter scales, the table shook. Most of our buildings 

remained intact which means they were listening to the instructions well. Kathy B. 
 
 
I found a book about a family who relocated to the United 
States but still had an Aunt that lived in Haiti. The Aunt was 
a painter, Aunt Luce’s Paintings. For the craft, we showed 
them the loom that is in one of our STEAM kits and we did 
a weaving project. It was a craft that took patience and it 
was not easy. The majority of the kids did very well with the 
project. I was glad I tried it! Debbie S. 



 

 

Friday April 12, Homeschool morning session no one showed up for the preschool portion. The 
afternoon session had 10 children and 6 adults. It was a very lively group in the preschool room. 
We colored pictures, made a clothespin butterfly and read stories. Rosemary B. 
 
Roots: Thurgood Marshall, Madame C.J. Walker (7 = 5 kids, 2 adults) Judith and Ernie 
presented another great slideshow on the first African American Supreme Court Justice and one 
of the first African American millionaire entrepreneurs. After the presentation, Judith and Ernie 
led the group in a game of Jeopardy!, asking questions about the heroes we discussed in 
previous programs. Many of the kids were new, so Judith’s husband, Earnest, Ernie, and I 
helped out when needed. Judith even gave everyone prizes at the end….It was a small group 
today, and a family that normally attends had arrived very late. Mom told me it was very hard for 
their family to get to the library at 1:30 on a Sunday. I let her know that we were offering Roots 
on Saturdays in the summer, and she said “that would be amazing.” I am hoping we can move 
Roots to Saturdays in the fall, too. Joyce A. 
 
Tween DIY: Microwave Brownie in a Mug (9) They were very happy with what they made. 
Clean up took about an hour. Some kids could not have soy milk, so we substituted water. 
Sarah D. 
 
Storytimes Because Spring Break was the week of April 14, the last week of Storytime was 
April 7. 693 people attended the 25 Storytimes. Storytimes featured spring and undersea 
themes. Here are comments from staff about their experiences.  
 
Morning Lapsit ended in a special way. “Every day parents make 
efforts to improve their babies’ literacy skills by participating in 
programs and reading. Graduation Party for babies was meant to 
recognize and encourage their dedication. When I read the book, 
The Wonderful Things You Will Be, the message made the 
parents contemplative. We shared a moment of awareness of the 
beautiful things we do together in storytime. They enjoyed the 
book and it was perfect for the occasion….One dad said: It is a 
little bit intimidating to be the only dad in a room full of moms. We 
like the program and we like to come. I thanked him for attending 
the program regularly because this encourages other dads to 
come and sets a nice example.” Andreea D. 
 
Sensory Storytime (20 = 11c, 9a) We read stories, played some 
songs, played with My Quiet Book, puzzles, water beads, sensory 
jars, and the basketball hoop. This was a great group of kids and parents, everyone participated 
in the songs and had lots of fun playing with the toys. Rosemary B. 
 
Polish Storytime This month, our theme was animals … farm animals, zoo animals and pets. 
After the march, we sang the “Itsy Bitsy Spider” song. It was very interesting to see the look on 

the children’s faces, when they heard the melody of a song that they 
knew but it was sung in Polish and not in English. Our second story was 
called “Animals”. This story was about farm animals. I laminated the 
pictures of the different animals mentioned in the story and handed them 
out to the children. I told the children to listen to the clues that I will be 
reading about each animal and if they have the animal that I’m describing, 
they can come up and put it on the felt board. Most of the kids understood 
enough Polish and were able to bring up their animals and put them up on 
the felt board, there was one little girl that needed assistance from her 
mom because she could not fully understand the story. Marta M. 



 

 

Program Number Attendance
Storytimes 25 693
Active 22 703
Passive 19 584
Games in Library 93 174

TOTAL 159 2154
 
 
Collection Development  
We turned two ideas into reality this month by creating mini displays on some shelves in the 
fiction and nonfiction sections and by starting to loan Take-Home Storytime Kits.  
 
 

 
 
Face-out Shelf Displays: Using materials from our Author Archive, we created displays for 
Beverly Cleary, who celebrated her 103rd birthday this month, and for Jack Prelutsky and Jane 
Yolen to promote Poetry Month.  
 
 Take-Home Storytime Kits In an effort to increase picture book circulation and provide more 

items of interest to parents we developed kits of books and CDs, each with a theme. Wendy 
B. and Sarah D. took the lead on the project, brainstorming ideas and procedures. Nancy K., 
Christina T., and Amina A. contributed their ideas as well. By spring break week, we were 
ready to go! Staff members rubber-banded sets of three books and a CD with a bright tag 
identifying the theme and encouraging families to take the items home and turn them into a 
Storytime. Many kits were based on our Undersea Adventure theme. We displayed the kits 
in the DIY Storytime Corner, on the windowsill of the Creativity Park and in programs. Some 
were checked out following Preschool Activity Time and the math clubs. We loaned 18 kits 
in about two weeks.     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Building Operations (Tasos Priovolos) 
 
Jack Oestreich joined our team as a Building Security Monitor on April 15th.  We are 
happy to have him join our team!! 
 
New millwork was installed for the new studio makerspace.   This new millwork will 
allow studio staff to display the makerspace equipment we have available to patrons.  
The added studio millwork will also provide the needed workspace for studio staff. 
 
Our annual fire pump and double pre-action fire suppression system were tested in 
April.  This testing includes running the pumps to test the flow of water needed during a 
fire.  Bolingbrook Fire Department was also on-site to certify the test. 
 
We continued working with Sheehan Nagle Hartray to finalize the design and drawings 
for the proposed 2nd Floor Computer Lab conversion to a meeting space.  The final 
design was issued for bidding to the public.  Contractor bids were opened on April 19th 
with two contractors bidding.   
 
Tria Architecture, along with their sub-contractors, have started the facilities assessment 
of our building.  This is the first step in creating a 20-year plan for building maintenance.  
This work is being completed as part of the Infrastructure Plan and Schedule goal on 
our current Strategic Plan. 
 
Completed the final version of our master disaster plan which will define the procedures 
needed during a disaster.  Jeffrey Fisher is assisting us with final formatting prior to 
having it printed.  This work is being completed as a part of our current Strategic Plan.   
 
Our annual fire extinguisher and emergency lighting inspection was completed.  
Deficiencies found during the inspection were properly repaired. 
 
We had the windows cleaned and sidewalks power washed in April.  This is part of our 
on-going exterior maintenance during the warmer months. 
 
ZENDESK -  

 
In April, 54 new maintenance tickets were created, and 56 new or existing 
tickets were completed. 
 
 
 

 
 
Collection Management & Technical Services (Christina Theobald) 
 
Staff Updates 
Chris Castle, Cataloger, celebrated his one year anniversary on March 26th.  Brett 
Luminais, Children’s Collection Development Librarian, celebrated his one year 
anniversary on April 30th.  Congrats Chris and Brett!  We are so happy to have you on 
our CMTSD team!! 



 

 

CollectionHQ User Forum 
This past month, we hosted the Collection HQ 2019 User Forum here at Fountaindale.  
Christina, Lynnette and Brett attended on behalf of our library and CMTSD.  
Approximately 50 guests attended, including Collections and Public Services staff from 
over twenty libraries in the Northern Illinois area.  It was quite illuminating listening to 
libraries’ experiences using CHQ and their perspectives on collection development and 
management.  A handful of libraries leverage help from volunteers on a regular basis to 
perform routine weeding tasks.  Another library deemed theirs as a “zero growth 
collection”, meaning one item in, another is weeded out, due to their space limitations.  
Additionally, representatives from Collection HQ and Baker & Taylor provided updates 
on new features in CHQ, including the ability to run reports and compare data with other 
libraries region-wide and consortium-wide. 
 
CSD Weeding Presentation 
Christina spoke at the April Children’s Services department meeting and presented on 
CMTSD’s weeding process.  Christina detailed how her department applies the CREW 
method and Collection HQ to discover items that may need to be withdrawn from the 
collection.  Current statistics on the condition and usage of juvenile materials was also 
presented. 
 
End of Year Ordering 
CMTSD has been very busy preparing for the end of the fiscal year.  Collection 
Development librarians are making final selections for the rest of the year and are 
working to expend collection budget lines.  Acquisitions, Cataloging and Processing 
staff are working together to get all of these materials out on the shelves and into the 
hands of our patrons. 
 
Pinnacle Purchase On Demand 
The Pinnacle Purchase On Demand Subcommittee met on April 12th to discuss the 
program’s progress and address any issues.  After almost a year of doing Purchase On 
Demand, a total of 36 titles have been purchased, garnering 128 circs.  Another 4 titles 
are now on order for patrons that have placed holds.  The overall turnover rate for 
purchased POD titles is 3.56.   
 

Library Titles 
Purchased

Total 
Cost 

Total 
Circs 

Turnover 
Rate 

Fountaindale 8 $104.68 34 4.25 

Joliet 9 $123.72 30 3.33 

Lemont 5 $51.92 34 6.8 

Plainfield 5 $78.13 21 4.2 

Shorewood-Troy 4 $40.13 6 1.5 

White Oak 5 $91.90 3 0.6 

Totals 36 $490.48 128 3.56 

Data as of 4/19/2019 
 



 

 

The circulation data and turnover rates prove these titles are not at risk of being “dead on 
arrival” and are circulating more than once.  The subcommittee discussed the viability of 
this program and how we should define its success. Since we share resources in a 
consortium environment, we must work within certain restrictions and limited criteria for 
title selection.  This means that POD will never yield as high of numbers compared with 
larger standalone libraries that load entire publisher catalogs into their systems.  
However, the group agreed that the program still serves as a useful supplement to our 
collection development practices and is helpful to gauge interest on questionable titles. 
 

Comparison of Physical Collection Circulation 

April 2018 to April 2019 
 
*Sorted by Category Name – Alphabetical 
 
Collection Categories 
 

Apr 2018 
Circs 

Apr 2019 
Circs 

Change 
% 
Change 

Adult Audiobooks 1078 988 -90 -8% 
Adult Bookmobile Collection 347 310 -37 -11% 
Adult Fiction 4859 4355 -504 -10% 
Adult Non-Fiction 5196 5124 -72 -1% 
Foreign Language Adult 223 155 -68 -30% 
Foreign Language Juvenile 922 640 -282 -31% 
Foreign Language Young Adult 21 12 -9 -43% 
Graphic Novels 2800 2722 -78 -3% 
Interlibrary Loan 265 227 -38 -14% 
Juvenile Audiobooks 453 380 -73 -16% 
Juvenile Bookmobile Collection 2682 1814 -868 -32% 
Juvenile Fiction 5516 4531 -985 -18% 
Juvenile Non-Fiction 5093 4637 -456 -9% 
Large Print 775 712 -63 -8% 
Local Author Collection 4 5 1 25% 
Magazines 934 715 -219 -23% 
Movies 12794 11263 -1531 -12% 
Movies - Juvenile 5833 4723 -1110 -19% 
Music CDs 2434 1529 -905 -37% 
On-The-Fly 21 12 -9 -43% 
Picture Books 10407 9391 -1016 -10% 
Reference 14 2 -12 -86% 
STEAMboxes 56 36 -20 -36% 
Studio 300 Collection 3056 2552 -504 -16% 
Technology & Equipment 1041 969 -72 -7% 
Technology & Equipment - Juvenile 218 157 -61 -28% 
Toys 115 82 -33 -29% 
Videogames 2224 1802 -422 -19% 
Young Adult Audiobooks 105 76 -29 -28% 
Young Adult Bookmobile Collection 19 20 1 5% 



 

 

Young Adult Fiction 1116 1155 39 3% 
Young Adult Non-Fiction 256 327 71 28% 
Totals 70877 61423 -9454 -13.3% 

 
Battle of the AV Formats 

Format Circs Format Circs 

Blu-ray 3,293 vs. DVD 13,269 

CD Audiobook 1,039 vs. Playaway Audiobook 627 
 

Special Collections 
 Collection Circs 
Mobile Hotspots 43 
Dolls 54 
STEAMboxes 36 

 

Comparison of Digital Collection Circulation 

April 2018 to April 2019 
 

Digital Platform 
 

Apr 2018 
Circs 

Apr 2019 
Circs 

Change 
 

% Change 
 

eRead Illinois eBooks 109 164 55 50.46% 

eRead Illinois eAudio 77 59 -18 -23.38% 

OverDrive eBooks 1766 1714 -52 -2.94% 

OverDrive eAudio 1325 1422 97 7.32% 

cloudLibrary eAudio 83 124 41 49.40% 

cloudLibrary eBooks 321 263 -58 -18.07% 

cloudLibrary Shared 519 365 -154 -29.67% 

Biblioboards 34 22 -12 -35.29% 

Kanopy 0 172 172 0.00% 

Rbdigital eAudio 109 86 -23 -21.10% 

Rbdigital eMags 266 449 183 68.80% 
Freegal Music 
Downloads 

204 428 224 109.80% 

Freegal Music Streaming 811 995 184 22.69% 

Hoopla 981 1506 525 53.52% 

GVRL eBooks 72 117 45 62.50% 

World Book eBooks 555 148 -407 -73.33% 

Tumblebooks 719 762 43 5.98% 

BookFlix 129 21 -108 -83.72% 
Totals 8080 8817 737 9.12% 

 



 

 

For April 2019, digital circulation was 12.56% of the library’s total circulation. 
 

 
 
 

 

2080

3551 3664

7819 7656
8121

8817

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

10000

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

C
ir
cu
la
ti
o
n
s

April Digital Circulation from Year to Year 

3136

223
752

22 86
449

1423 1506

172 0 117 148
762

21

8817

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

10000

Digital Circulation April 2019



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

Apr‐18 May‐18 Jun‐18 Jul‐18 Aug‐18 Sep‐18 Oct‐18 Nov‐18 Dec‐18 Jan‐19 Feb‐19 Mar‐19 Apr‐19

Apr‐18 May‐18 Jun‐18 Jul‐18 Aug‐18 Sep‐18 Oct‐18 Nov‐18 Dec‐18 Jan‐19 Feb‐19 Mar‐19 Apr‐19

Book Flix 129 66 270 141 27 91 128 31 2 14 23 11 21

Tumble Books 719 1306 216 37 711 1494 1748 1251 813 893 1052 1687 762

World Book eBooks 555 289 51 36 34 64 108 140 94 63 106 71 148

Gale Virtual Ref Library 72 93 66 28 9 80 82 52 39 33 55 25 117

OnePlay Video games 41 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kanopy 18 156 91 83 101 121 139 134 212 172

Hoopla 981 963 1261 1349 1307 1145 1248 1218 1296 1454 1339 1449 1506

Freegal Music 1015 756 984 1893 1320 1389 1372 1500 1553 1277 1377 1712 1423

RBdigital eMags 266 136 239 157 211 192 344 596 438 469 456 529 449

RB Digital eAudio 109 101 125 109 125 131 78 105 89 106 91 126 86

Biblioboard 34 22 25 29 67 5 23 41 33 12 32 14 22

Cloud Library 923 949 874 853 814 998 1024 916 713 933 830 865 752

eRead Illinois 186 189 357 225 170 196 223 152 184 241 207 231 223

OverDrive 3091 3071 3270 3473 3459 3288 3167 2949 3033 3083 3041 3371 3136

Digital Collection Circulation



 

 

Digital Content Fast Facts 
April 2019 

 
Overdrive 

 There were 4,366 unique users, which is an 11.1% growth from last April. 
 eBooks accounted for 59.4% of checkouts, while eAudio accounted for 40.6% 

of the month’s usage. 
 87.4% of checkouts were for Adult titles, 7.0% were for Young Adult titles, and 

5.5 % were for Juvenile titles. 
 Our consortium has 16,246 active holds and 7,683 titles currently checked 

out. 
 
cloudLibrary 

 In March, there were 174 active users.  Of those, 26 are new patrons. 
 There were 78 Pay Per Use eAudio circs; 24 from Fountaindale patrons and 54 

from Lemont patrons. 
 
eRead Illinois/Axis 360 

 In April, there were 82 active users, 22 of which are new users. 
 The top 3 circulating subjects for April was Fiction, Juvenile Fiction, and 

Biographies. 
 
Hoopla 

 There were 1,506 total circs borrowed by 341 patrons.  The average number 
of circs was 4.4 circs per patron, with 51 individuals using all 10 circs. 

 Audiobooks were the most borrowed format, accounting for 51% of all circs, 
followed by eBooks with 18%, Movies with 10%, and Music with 7% of circs. 

 Adult Fiction was the most borrowed category, accounting for 47% of all circs, 
followed by Adult Non-Fiction with 32% and Juvenile Fiction with 13%. 

 
Kanopy 

 The top five most popular videos in March were: Captain Fantastic, Logan 
Lucky, Grace Jones: Bloodlight and Bami, Red Hollywood: Films Made by 
Victims of the Hollywood Blacklist and Trumbo. 

 Our patrons played 172 distinct video titles and 266 video plays. 
 The site was visited 797 times and received 987 page hits. 
 In April, there were 50 active users. 

 
Freegal 

 April yielded 428 music downloads and 995 songs streamed. 
 April’s top streaming music genres: Classical, Pop, Rock, Children’s and 

Soundtracks. 
 April’s top downloaded music genres: Classical, Pop, Alternative and Rock. 



 

 

Physical Items Added and Withdrawn 

Physical Items 
 

Apr 2019 
Added 

Apr 2019 
Withdrawn 

Adult Audiobooks 70 2 
Adult Bookmobile Collection 140 351 
Adult Fiction 737 3887 
Adult Non-Fiction 437 24 
Foreign Language Adult 24 2 
Foreign Language Juvenile 4 2 
Foreign Language Young Adult 0 99 
Graphic Novels 133 8 
Juvenile Audiobooks 10 134 
Juvenile Bookmobile Collection 287 13 
Juvenile Fiction 377 12 
Juvenile Non-Fiction 203 14 
Large Print 78 4 
Local Author Collection 0 0 
Magazines 355 38 
Movies 773 243 
Movies - Juvenile 143 15 
Music CDs 30 2 
Picture Books 468 31 
Reference 6 0 
STEAMboxes 0 0 
Studio 300 Collection 0 0 
Technology & Equipment 8 12 
Technology & Equipment - Juvenile 0 1 
Toys 16 5 
Videogames 10 2 
Young Adult Audiobooks 8 242 
Young Adult Bookmobile Collection 4 0 
Young Adult Fiction 89 8 
Young Adult Non-Fiction 41 0 
TOTALS 4451 5151 

 
 

Acquisitions 

 Purchase Orders created and released: 18 
 Purchase Orders closed out and received: 89 
 Invoices Paid: 211 
 PODs Purchased: 1 

 

 



 

 

Processing & Repair 

 New cases: 110 
 RFIDs/Stingrays: 59 
 Repairs: 87 
 New artwork: 23 
 Stolen: 5 reports 
 Disc repairs: 86 
 Processed (spine & pocket): 3137 
 New stickers: 1320* 
 Discard & de-processing: 3677 
 Playaway battery covers: 1 
 Call no. changes: 333 

 
 

Interlibrary Loan 
279 Items Received for our patrons 

 223 items from IL libraries 
 56 items from out of state libraries 

 
214 Items Sent out to other libraries 

 122  to IL libraries 
 86 to out of state libraries 
 6 to XYZ libraries 

 
334 Items requested by our patrons this month 

 305 submitted in OCLC 
 19 items were too new to request 

 4 were available in Pinnacle 
 6 were out of country only 
 1 eBook by our patron 
 3 XYZ Patrons 

 
303 Items requested by OCLC libraries this month 

 174 from IL libraries 
 129 from out of state libraries 
 0 out of country 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

CollectionHQ Statistics 
CHQ Status Adult Young Adult Juvenile Totals 

Dead - Items that have 
not circulated in 2 
years 
CHQ Recommendation: 
less than 10% 

14,816 
Down 1,216 
items 
12.73% 

3,602 
Down 127 
items 
18.57% 

14,217 
Down 333 items 
13.03% 

32,635 
Down 3,505 
items 
13.29% 

Collection Check - 
Anything that has not 
circulated in 4 years 
CHQ Recommendation: 
less than 10% 

2,193 
Down 288 items 
14.80% 

498 
Down 49 
items 
13.83% 

747 
Down 426 items 
7.29% 

3,438 
Down 763 items 
10.53% 

Grubby - Items that 
have circulated 75 
times or more 
CHQ Recommendation: 
less than 10% 

10,192 
Down 719 items 
8.76% 

856 
Down 27 
items 
4.41% 

13,455 
Down 250 items 
12.26% 

24,503 
Down 996 items 
9.98% 

DOA 
Items that have been 
added to the collection 
in the last 6 months, 
and only circulated 1 or 
less times in the last 18 
months. 
CHQ Recommendation: 
less than 10%  

2,307 
Down 294 items 
 
17.12% 

595 
Down 31 
items 
 
32.45% 

1,373 
Down 421 items 
 
18.37% 

4,244 
Down 746 items 
 
18.29% 

Turnover 
April 24, 2018 to April 
22, 2019 

2.16 Turnover 1.84 Turnover 2.75 Turnover 2.4 Turnover 

 
 
 
 

NextReads Newsletters 
Subscribers 11 New 11 Unsubscribed 1 Bounced 
Newsletters   266 Items clicked 

open 
 April New Movies 

highest clicks (290) 

25.68% Mobile 
Views 

74.32% Desktop Views

Emails  1,056 Sent 
 34.79% opened 

Highest Subscribers 
- New York Times 
Fiction Bestsellers 
(88) 

April 14, 2019 NYT 
Fiction Bestsellers (24) 
emails opened 

 



 

 

Displays 
  

Lobby Tree 
 Staff Picks (93) 

 
Lobby Display 

 Popular Picks (128) 
 Smart Money (38) 
 Who’s Your Hero (169) 
 National Library Week (9) 
 Holocaust Remembrance (4) Up four days 
 Think Spring (47) 

 
2nd Floor 

 Game of Thrones (39) 
 
3rd floor self-check 

 SAAM (12) 
 Spring Cleaning (42) 
 DIY (8) Up two days 

Holiday 
 Spring (36) 
 On Safari (60) 
 Weather (37) 
 Easter & Passover (65) 
 Friendship (27) 
 Cinco de Mayo (26) 
 EZ as ABC (25) 
 1000 Books Before Kindergarten 

(232) 
 

 
Yellow Wall 

 Reading with My Peeps (124) 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
   
 
 

            
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             



 

 

             
              

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Communications (Melissa Bradley) 
 

Communications General Updates 
 

 Melissa, Sabrina and Steven attended the 2nd annual ILA Marketing Forum 
Mini-Conference at Schaumburg Township District Library. 

 Melissa and other staff met with Michael Swendrowski for an overview of the 
design and layout of the proposed new outreach vehicle. 

 Melissa and Steven demoed a new notification software (Message 
BEE) from Unique, the same company that manages our website’s 
live chat. 

 Steven continued working with Matt Hammermeister and 
PatronPoint to develop an improved notification system for our 
ILS. 

 Steven continued to work with Joyce and Nancy to finalize our 
Beanstack platform and training materials ahead of Summer 
Adventure. 

 Melissa and Sabrina attended the Ice Cream Social meeting. 



 

 

 Sabrina, Steven and Nancy edited and proofread The Fountain (June-August 
2019). 

 Sabrina created the Summer Adventure ad for the Theater-on-the-Hill 
handbill. 

 
Media Coverage 
 

 The Bugle picked up our story about the new Micro Pantry and mentioned 
National Library Week. 

 Valley View School District also featured our National Library Week and new 
Micro Pantry in their “News from Our Community Partners” section. 

 We received a great 5-star review this month on Google: 

 

 
Strategic Planning 

 Goal Team 2 added a new objective to our current strategic plan. We are 
planning and implementing a campaign to increase the public’s awareness of our 
services and to celebrate the library’s 50th anniversary in 2020. 

 We continue to send out program evaluation surveys to people who attended our 
events and programs. Our grand total is 3,226 completed surveys. 

 The most frequent way people hear about our programs is via the website 
(44.72%) and The Fountain newsletter (35.38%). 

 
Social Media Paid Ads 

 The Food for Fines paid ad ended. The ad ran April 9–12. We spent $5, which 
reached 655 people and had 6 engagements. 

 The Friends of Fountaindale Book Sale paid event ended. The ad ran April 3–6. 
We spent $5, which reached 582 people and had 14 event responses. 

 The Open Mic Showcase Night paid event ended. The ad ran April 3–8. We 
spent $7, which reached 765 people and had 11 event responses. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Social Media Metrics  

 Facebook Metrics 
 22 new people liked our page  
 322 people viewed our page  
 50,823 people saw our content 

 18,263 people saw our content because a friend shared, liked or 
engaged with it  

 3,446 people engaged with our content (clicked, liked, commented or 
shared)  
 

 Twitter Metrics 
 2 new followers 
 223 page views 
 13,000 tweet impressions 

 
 Instagram Metrics 

 18 new followers  
 519 post likes 

 
Email Marketing Metrics  

 24 emails sent (16 of which were one-time welcome emails to new patrons) 
 76 new subscribers 
 Average open rate: 45.41% (industry average is 19.85%)  
 Average click rate: 20.58%  

 
 
 
 
 
Finance (Jennie Nguyen) 

Highlights 

 Book Cart – I have been working with the Circulation Manager, Amina Ali, to 
research cart types and pricing for a cart which could be used by the Circulation 
Aides for weeding out books.  I have contacted several vendors including Lyngsoe, 
Warehouse Direct, and several others.  Amina and I were able to select a cart that 
best fits the needs of the Circulation Department and within our budget range. 

 2019 Elevate Program – I was fortunate enough to be selected to attend the 2019 
ILA Elevate Leadership program in Springfield on April 27th.  I was able to meet and 
network with several members of the Illinois library community.  The purpose of the 
program was to learn how to build effective teams as well as diagnose and solve 
common team problems. 

 Artwork Appraisal – I had spent some time discussing and setting up the objectives 
as well as terms of the artwork appraisal with our appraisal company, MIR Appraisal 
Services, Inc. 



 

 

 Coffee Services – I had received notification from a Warehouse Direct 
representative of a rental fee for the Keurig coffee machine due to a drop in our 
coffee supply orders.  After a conversation with our direct sales manager from 
Warehouse Direct, Neil Bruns, concerning the rental fee, which he had no 
notification of, the fee was cancelled.  Neil had been reminded on the amount of 
orders every month that are placed with the company which the coffee order is just a 
small portion.  Not only did he agreed with this, a new Keurig machine was brought 
out to us to use. 

 Costco Membership – Jenna, ATSD Specialist, was added to the Library’s Costco 
business account.  She had some issues obtaining the membership card due to a 
misunderstanding on the part of the customer membership representative.  I had 
spoken with the Customer Service supervisor and clarify Jenna’s staff status as well 
as updating her profile with the tax exemption status.  Now Jenna is free to go 
shopping for the Library. 

 Laconi Survey – I had completed the financial portion of the 2018/2019 Laconi 
library survey.  This survey is complete on an annual basis. 

 Children Services Department Orientation – I had the pleasure of sitting with 
several members of the Children Services staff members at the service desk on April 
16, 2019.  I was able to learn the level of service our Children Services staff provide 
to our youngest patrons and their parents.  It was wonderful to see how excited the 
little ones were excited to use many of the features in the department.  I was able to 
discuss the financial needs and internal controls of the department’s cash box.  

 Friends of the Library Treasurer’s Report – Marianne, Friends’ Liaison, had 
asked me to review the treasurer’s report for the upcoming Friends’ Appreciation 
Dinner.  I had reviewed it and made some formatting suggestions, which was 
accepted. 

 Chase Credit Card Fraudulent Charge Issue – Because of the Chase credit card 
being compromised, Allyse made a list of hotels that were initially charged on the 
Library’s main card, but hadn’t gone through yet.  She had also went through and 
made a list of recurring charges, who the staff member was that initiated/monitored 
the transactions, and the frequency.  

 Vendor Profile Change Form – With the increase in financial scam occurring in the 
business environment, I had taken the necessary steps to increase our internal 
control process. As part of a new internal control step, Allyse and I created an official 
form for the vendor to complete and signed to verify the legitimacy of the request for 
payment information change.  This is another step Finance has taken to protect the 
Library from potential fraud.   

Special Projects 

 Bank RFP – The terms and dates of the Library’s Bank RFP has been reviewed by 
the Executive Director and our attorneys. The Bank RFP will be brought to the May 
2019 board meeting to be review for approval by our Board of Trustees. 

 
 
 



 

 

Human Resources (Lea Pottle) 
 
Staffing and Recruiting 
Open Positions: 

 Adult and Teen Services Specialist 
 Circulation Services Aide (2) 
 Finance Specialist 
 Studio Services Specialist 

New Employees: 
 Jack Oestreich, Building Security Monitor, 4/15/19 
 Carolyn Boyer, Outreach Services Assistant Manager, 4/22/19 
 Brittany Schwager, Adult and Teen Services Specialist, 4/29/19 

 
Change in Status: 

 Justin Clash, Studio Services Specialist, changed status from part-time to full-
time, 5/12/19 

 
Departures: 

 Andre Burton, Adult and Teen Services Specialist, 4/19/19 
 Julie Walker, Circulation Services Aide, 4/27/19 

 
Training and Development;  

 Grundy Will Human Resources Association Meeting; Lea 
 HR Source Library Roundtable; Lea 

 
Policy Revisions 

 The project of reviewing the Employee Handbook has been completed. Policies 
were reviewed and edited for presentation to the Board, Lea 

 
Group Medical Insurance; Lea 

 Ongoing review of renewal information for the District’s group medical insurance. 
 
Anti-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Training; Lea 

 Provided annual Anti-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment training for the 
Collection Management and Technical Services Department. 
 

Executive Director’s Annual Performance Evaluation; Lea 
Assisted the Board of Trustees with the Executive Director’s annual performance 
evaluation. Created a survey using Survey Monkey and compiled data for the Board.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Information Technology (John Matysek) 
 
During the month of April 88 new help desk tickets were created by FPLD staff, and 101 
new or existing tickets were solved by IT staff. 
 
Reconfigured the library’s Domain Name Service (DNS) settings to support the 
forthcoming update to patron email notices by vendor PatronPoint. 
 
Along with multiple staff, attended a presentation by consultant Michael Swendrowski 
on the design and features of the proposed replacement Bookmobile. 
 
Along with Randall Hildebrandt, Jose Robles, and Nathan Peddicord, removed and 
reinstalled IT equipment at the 2nd floor public desk, 3rd floor public desk, and in Studio 
300 for mill working upgrades to provide enhanced patron service. 
 
Along with Randall Hildebrandt, Jose Robles, and Nathan Peddicord, began 
researching Mac Mini mounting options for future deployment to the 2nd floor Computer 
Commons for patron usage. 
 
Along with Randall Hildebrandt, Jose Robles, and Nathan Peddicord, worked with 
vendor Today’s Business Solutions (TBS) to install new Windows 10 based 
replacement SimpleScan/FAX computers and scanners on the 2nd floor, 3rd floor, and in 
the Studio. 
 
Met with Jeffrey Fisher to discuss options for the upcoming software refresh on all 
Studio 300 patron Mac computers. 
 
Worked with vendor Today’s Business Solutions (TBS) to identify and resolve an issue 
effecting remote access on all the new Windows 10 based patron computers. 
 
Along with Randall Hildebrandt, Jose Robles, and Nathan Peddicord, began 
researching mounting and hardware options for the forthcoming online public access 
catalog (OPAC) station in the 1st floor Circulation patron hold shelf area. 
 



April 2019 District Statistics
Population 

Total 67683
Total Circulation Statistics 70,240 Reading Clubs Adult Teen Children Outreach Total Website Visits Total Facebook Likes
Building/Driveup 56,839 Reading Clubs Offered 0 0 1 0 1 25,832 4,147
Bookmobile 4,584 Reading Clubs Members 0 0 331 0 331 Proctoring Total Twitter Followers
Digital 8,817 Summer Reading Clubs 0 0 0 0 0 10 791

Summer Reading 
Members 0 0 0 0 0 Faxes Sent Total Instagram Followers
Collections Totals Population Served Building Outreach Total 582 834

Interlibrary Loan Requests New Physical Items 4,451 Total Visits 42,093 1,371 44,324 Scans Sent Total eNews Subscribers
Items Received for our Patrons 279 New Digital Items 2,899 New Cardholders 200 1 201 3,980 4,185
Items Sent to other Libraries 214 Collection Total 427,306 Active Cardholders 24,249 136 24,385 Pages Printed COHS Students Enrolled

% Served All cardholders ** 49,470
Drive through 

visits 860 19,644 7
In-house checkins (Not par of total 
circ) 2549 Active cardholders 36.03% Computer and Internet Sessions Monthly Wireless 

SessionsAll cardholders 73.09% Studio 300 Children's Vortex Lab/Commons Total
188 1,188 346 3,934 5,656 18,740

Public Use of Meeting Rooms 
S300 Audio 

Booths Studio 300 GCRs
S300 Video 

Suites
Meeting Room A, B & 

Board Room  Study Rooms Free Standing Book Drop Return Totals
Number of events/uses 176 44 30 33 374 Building Front Building Rear Church Ashbury's
Attendance 265 104 58 551 633 3,372 3,264 1,274 387

Programs
Programs and Tours for Adults Programs and Tours for Teens Mobile App Downloads

Adult/Teen Staff Outreach Staff Studio 300 Staff Total Adult/Teen Staff Outreach Staff Studio 300 Staff Total IOS:  3,521
Numbered offered 50 5 47 102 39 0 1 40 Android: 848
Attendance 567 18 368 953 847 0 7 854
Programming hours 65 5 50.5 120.5 50 0 1 51

Programs
Programs and Tours for Children Passive Progams for Teens Total Offered

Children's Staff Outreach Staff Studio 300 Staff Total Adult/Teen Staff Outreach Staff Studio 300 Staff Total 363
Numbered offered 47 157 3 207 20 0 0 20 Total Attendance
Attendance 1,396 3,859 198 5453 678 0 0 678 9,473
Programming Hours 35.5 113 3 151.5 X X X X Total Programming Hours

Passive Programs for  Children
Cross-Department Programs/Tours and Streaming Media Video 

Stats for All Ages  323
Children's Staff Outreach Staff Studio 300 Staff Total Building Offsite Virtual Total

Numbered offered 112 0 0 112 9 0 5 14
Attendance 758 0 758 223 0 1,990 2,213
Programming hours X X X X 13 0 112 125
Reference/Library Info Studio 300 Circulation 2nd Flr. Media Vortex 3rd Floor Outreach Children's Svcs. Total
Reference Total 145 216 518 90 580 709 663 2,921
Library Information 33 1,952 447 137 788 59 1,966 5,382
One on One Assistance (Scheduled) 13 0 33 0 22 0 0 68

Comparison to Previous Year This Year Last Year % change
Comparison to 
Previous Year This Year Last Year % change

*Includes virtual programs
** All cardholders are all patrons in our patron 
database which gets purged monthly to delete 
patrons with expired cards of 4 years or older

Circulation 70,240 78,998 -11.09% Reference Questions 2,921 4,618 -36.75%
Visitors 44,324 37,137 19.35% Computer Usage 5,656 6,116 -7.52%
Card Holders 24,249 26,029 -6.84% Wireless Sessions 18,740 20,193 -7.20%
Room Bookings 657 753 -12.75% Program Attendance* 9,473 9,022 5.00%


	05-16-2019 Agenda
	05-16-2019 Agenda Background
	04-18-2019 Minutes
	Will County - 2019 Consolidated General Election Canvass and Abstract of Results
	Resolution 2019-2 Contract for 2nd Floor Meeting Room
	Banking Services RFP 2019 - Fountaindale Public Library District
	2019-2020 Board Motion Health Renewal
	FPLD Conduct Policy DRAFT 20190516
	Ordinance 2019-2 Ordinance Establishing Regulations for Electronic Attendance
	Ordinance 2019-3 By-Laws Amendment
	Comparison Document of By-Laws
	ISL District Vacancy Memo 2019
	Treasurers Report as of April 30 2019
	Bills Paid Report - May 2019

